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5
PROCEEDINGS

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Herebegins disc
number one in the videotaped deposition of
Dr. Steven Brigham, in the matter of O'Connell
versus Associates inOB/GYN Care, LLC, etal., in
the United States District -- District Court for
the District of Maryland, Case Number JFM-14-1339.

Today's date is October 31st,2017. The
time on the video monitor is 9:38 a.m.
10 The videographertoday is Carolyn Correa,
11 representing Planet Depos.
12 This video deposition is taking place at
13 300 West Pratt Street, Baltimore, Maryland.
14 Would counsel please voice identify
15 themselves and state whom they represent.
16 MS.MALARKEY: EmilyMalarkey, on behalf
17 of the Plaintiff, Christy O'Connell.
18 MR.GREANEY: Christopher Greaney,on
19 behalf of the Deponent, Steven Brigham.
20 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: The courtreporter
21today is Stephanie Hummon, representing Planet
22 Depos. Would the reporter please swear in the

O ON DN bW

O

6
witness.
Whereupon,
STEVEN C. BRIGHAM, M.D.,
being first dulyswornoraffirmedtotestify to
thetruth, the wholetruth, andnothingbutthe
truth, was examined and testified as follows:
EXAMINATIONBY COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF
BY MS.MALARKEY:
9 Q. Okay, Dr. Brigham. Canyouplease state
10 your full name and your currentresidential
11 address.
12 A. Myfullnameis Steve Brigham. Idon't
13 wanttoreveal mypresentresidential address.
14 Q. Okay. Well, youunderstand thatyou're a
15 defendant in the lawsuit that we're here today to
16 speak about --

0O 3 O Lt AW N~

17  A. Right.
18 Q. --correct?
19 A.Ido.

20 Q. Okay. Allright. Whatisthereasonwhy
21 youdon't wantto give yourresidential address?
22  A.BecauseI'vebeentargeted with violence

7

1 byanti-abortion folks and I want to protect my
2 family.

3 MS.MALARKEY: Okay. Can we make an
4 agreement that you will provide his residential

5 address for me off therecord?

6 MR.GREANEY: Wecanagreeto provide an
7 address at which he receives mail, as I -- as we

8 discussed.

9 THE WITNESS: That's fine.

10 Q. Youwillagreetoprovideanaddress at
11 which you receive mail currently?

12 A.Yes.

13 Q. Okay. And forhow longhas thataddress
14 been the address at which you receive mail?
15 A.I don'tremember.

16 Q. Isitaresidentialaddress thatyouwill
17 provide or a business --

18 A. No.

19 Q. --address?

20 A.It will be a mailing address.

21 Q. Abusinessaddress oraresidential

22 address?

A. A mailing address.

Q. Right. But is it a mailing address of a
home or a P.O. box or a corporate location?

A. A commercialmailbox.

Q. Okay. And for how long have you been
associated with the address of that corporate
mailbox that youwill provide?

A. I don'tremember.

9 Q. Years? Months? Days?

10 A.Years.

11 Q. Allright. What state is the address in?
12 A.Connecticut.

13 Q. Okay. And you've been affiliated with
14 the address in Connecticut that you'll provide off
15 the record for a number of years?

16 A.Yes.

17 Q. Do you have any intention of divesting
18 yourselfof any interest in that commercial address
19 that you're going to provide later?

20 A.No.

21 Q. Okay. Doyouownanyresidential

22 property?

XIS U AW -
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9
A. Do I own it personally?
Q. Yeah.
A. Solely?
Q. No. No. You or with someone else. Do
you have any ownership in a property?
A. Thave an ownership interest--1 have a
7 partial ownership interestin a residential
8 property, yes.
9 Q. Isthatproperty located inthe State of
10 Massachusetts?
11  A.No.
12 Q. Whenyousigned anaffidavitduring
13 proceedings earlierinthis litigation, I think
14 sometime this summer, you gave an address that you
15 stated you co-owned with your wife in
16 Massachusetts.

SN N AW -

17 Do you recall that?
18 A. The--Irecallthe addressin
19 Massachusetts.

20 Q. Okay. Doyou--didyoueverco-owna
21 residential property in Massachusetts with your
22 wife?
10
A. I--I'mnotsure.  had a homestead
interest. I'mnot sure legally what that meant.
Q. Okay. Are you married today, sir?
A. Excuse me?
Q. Are you married today?
A. 1 ammarried.
Q. Who is your wife?
8 A. I don't want to reveal that. I don't see
9 thatasrelevant. Mywife has nothingto do with
10 this case and I want to protect my wife. I'm
11sorry.
12 Q. I understand that, sir. But,
13 unfortunately, only a judge can tell you not to
14 answer the questions. So, today, you do haveto
15 answer my questions and --
16 A. We'vemoved for this to be sealed to
17 protect my family and if the judge rules that I
18 have to reveal my wife's identity, I will, but I'm
19 not -- I personally don't -
20 MR. GREANEY: Dr. Brigham, we've already
21 provided her identity in an affidavit in the case.
22 THE WITNESS: We have?

NN N AW =

11
1 MR. GREANEY: Yes, we have. So you
2 can--
3 THE WITNESS: Well, but thisisn't
4 sealed, so my -- my wife is Krishni De Thabrew.
5 BY MS. MALARKEY:
6 Q. Okay. And, I'm sorry, what is her last
7 name, sir? I just didn'tget all the letters.
8  A.De Thabrew.
9 Q. Idon'twantto say it wrong.
10 Ms. De Thabrew?
11 A.Yes.
12 Q. ForhowlonghasMs. DeThabrewbeenyour
13 wife?
14 A.Ten years.
15 Q. AndifTunderstand whatyou'vetoldmea
16 moment ago and the affidavit you signed earlier in
17 this case, you and Ms. De Thabrew have a homestead
18 co-interest in a residential property in
19 Massachusetts?
20 A. Therewas--therewas aresidential
21 property in Massachusetts.
22 Q. Um-hum.

12
1 A. Ibelieveitwas titledin her name,
2 but--andIdon't--I'mnotanattorney,so I
3 don'tunderstand thelegal implications of this,
4 butunder Massachusetts law, I remember I had to
5 signsomething about my homestead interest in this
6 property in Massachusetts.
7 Q. Have you ever resided in the property in
8 Massachusetts?
9 A. Yes.
10 Q. Okay. Do you reside there now?
11  A.No.
12 Q. Forhowlongdidyouresideinthat--in
13 that property in Massachusetts?
14  A.For about threeyears.
15 Q. Okay. From when to when, roughly?
16 A. From2000---twoandahalfyears maybe.
17 From 2012 until late 2016.
18 Q. Late lastyear?

19 A.Yes.
20 Q. About a yearago?
21 A.Yes.

22 Q. Okay. Do -- do you, or you and your wife

PLANET DEPOS
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co-own or have any homestead or any other type of

interest in any other residential property
anywhere?

A.Yes. There is a -- well, I don't --
there's a property, which I thinkis in foreclosure
now, butthereis a propertyin New Jersey that
we're -- I forget the word, but we join -- jointly
own.
9 Q. Okay. What is the address of the
10 property inNew Jersey that you jointly own that
11 may or may not be in foreclosure?
12 A.It's Corbridge Court in Voorhees,
13 NewJersey.
14 Q. 1094 Corbridge Court?

O I SN N AW

15 A.I'm sorry, what did yousay?

16 Q. 1094 CorbridgeCourt.

17 A.Yes.

18 Q. InVoorhees?

19 A.Yes. Yes. That'sit.

20 Q. Forhowlong,approximately,haveyouhad

21 an ownership interest, either full or partial, in
22 the Corbridge Court residential address?
14

A. I don'tremember.

Q. Years?

A. Years.

Q. Decades?

A. I don't think it's decades -- I'm not
sure.

Q. Okay.

A. Many--severalyears. Idon'tthink
9 it--Idon'tknowifit'sreacheddecades,but--
10 Q. So other than the Corbridge Court address
11 in Voorhees, New Jersey, and the Massachusetts
12 address, do you currently own any proper --
13 residential property, with or without your wife?

R IS\ AW -

15
1 Q. Okay. Okay. You went to medical school
2 at Columbia University?
3 A. Yes, ma'am.
4 Q. And can you tell me what youdid
5 education-wise or training-wise after you graduated
6 from medical school?
7 First of all, let me back up a second.
8 What year did you graduate medical school?
9 A. Let me think. I went to MIT as an
10 undergraduate, and graduated from MITin '78. And
11 thenIwentto ColumbiaandIwasinan M.D., Ph.D.
12 program and graduated --1 got my M.D. degreein
13'86 and then I did a internship from '86 to '87.
14 And then--well, that was thelastresidency
15 training I took, and then I started practicing
16 medicine and working my Ph.D. and things like that.
17 Q. Okay. Soyou--youattained your M.D.
18 degree in 19867
19 A. Yes.
20 Q. And did you achieve your Ph.D.?
21 A.ldid not defend my --I--1gota
22 master's -- master's degree in biochemistry, but I

16
1 didn'tdefend my--1didn'tfinish mydissertation
2 because I started practicing medicine.
3 Q. So the master's degree in biochemistry
4 in--Itakeit, that was from Columbia as well?
5 A. Um-hum.
6 Q. Yes? Sorry. You have to say yesbecause
7 she can't write downum-hum.
8 A. Yes.
9 Q. Okay. What --
10  A. The master's is from Columbia.
11 Q. Andwhatyeardidyouachieveyour
12 master's degree?
13 A. Idon'tremember. Itwas inthe -- it

14 A.No. 14was before my M.D.
15 Q. Doyouhaveanyownershipinterest 15 Q. Okay.
16 currently inany commercial property? 16 A. Itwasbetween--itwas intheearly
17 A.No. 17 '80s -
18 Q. Have youever? 18 Q. Okay.
19 A. No. 19 A.--sometime.
20 Q. AndwhenIsay, you, Imean,personally, 20 Q. So it went bachelor's degree, master's
21 Steven C. Brigham. 21 degree and then medical doctor?
22 A.No, not that I remember, no. 22 A.M.D.
PLANET DEPOS
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Q. Allright. Andso interms ofthe Ph.D.
program, itsounds likeyouwroteadis--yougot
all the way through writing the dissertation, you
just didn't --

A. 1 didn't finish writing it.

Q. The internship from 1986 to 1987, that
was in internal medicine?

A. Internal medicine and emergency medicine.
9 There was a -- at the time, they didn't have
10 emergency medicine residencies. ButI've--1did
11 alot of emergency medicine as a partof that
12 residency.
13 Q. And through what academic program was
14 your internship?
15 A. New York Medical College in Valhalla.
16 Q. Andyou--Itakeit, youdidnot
17 complete thatresidency program?

O 3 O\ W B~ W

18 A.ldid.
19 Q. Okay. It was a one-yearprogram?
20 A.Itwas a one-yearprogram, right.
21 Q. A one-year internship program?
22  A.Right.
18
1 Q. Okay. Did you participate at all in any
2 type of residency programever?
3 A. Well, I mean, that's part of a
4 postgraduate residency, whatever you would call it.
5 Internship, residency, a PG one year, I did that.
6 And that's all I signed up for and that's all I
7 did.
8 Q. Right. I'm just trying to understand a

9 little bit because the kind of residencies I'm

10 familiar with are more than one year. SoifI'm --
11 if I'm following you, you signed up for a one-year
12 program, you did the one year, you completed the

13 program.
14  A. Correct.
15 Q. There was no -- when you initially

16 started the program, was there an expectation that
17 it would last more than just a year?

18 A. No. Theyinvited me to stay and

19 continue, butI wanted to --to finish the

20 residency--to stay on. Ionly signed up for one
21 year and that's all I did.

22 Q. Okay. The other students who started

19
1 with you at the same time --
2 A. Right.
3 Q. -- did any of them continue on?
4 A. Well, you -- when you match --
5 Q. Um-hum.
6 A. SoImatched witha--they're called --
7 forgetthe words, it's been -- you're going back so
8 far. You can sign up -- you can match for a
9 one-yearresidency or you can ask to do - it's
10 called atransitional or a--1forget now what the
11 wordsare. But,anyway, some of the--some of the
12doctorswhobegantheresidency withme,like me,
13matched for oneyear. And some wanted to go for
14 three years or -- well, it was three years at the
15 time. So the ones who did one year did one year,
16asfarasIknow. Andthe ones who did threeyears
17 did three years.
18 Q. Okay. So when you applied, you applied
19todoaone-yearprogramanditwasalwaysyour
20 intention to only do a one-year program?
21 A. Well, when I applied, and when I matched,
22 itwas a one-year program, and that was a fixed

20
one-year program. But my ultimate intentions
were -- beyond that, were unclear to me at the
time.

Q. What I'm asking you, though, is did
you -- did you apply for a three-year program?
A. No.
Q. Okay. Did you have any intentionof
doing a resident --
9 A. I was offered to stay to continue the
10 three-year program, but I didn't want to at the
11 time because I wanted to work on my Ph.D.
12 Q. Okay. You didn't stay on to complete the
13 remaining two years because you wanted to work on
14 your Ph.D.?
15 A. Itwasn'tremaining twoyears. They
16 offered me --1only --atthe interview, they
17 wanted me to go for three years, but I didn't want
18 to do the whole three-year program because I wanted
19to go and finish my Ph.D. And then whatIwould do
20 after that, I wasn't sure whether I would do
21 further residency training in internal medicine or
22insomeotherspecialty,or whatIwasgoingto do.

O QNN AW -
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21
1 Q. All right. So in 1987, you finished your
2 internship and wentback to working on your Ph.D.?
3 A. Yes.
4 Q. And were you working on your Ph.D. full
5 time or were you employed in the meantime?
6  A. Well, after I finished my training —-
7 boy,you're going back to the '80s now--1took a
8 vacationandthenlIstarted workingonthe Ph.D.
9 AndthenIgotlicensed. Andthen I needed to earn
10anincomebecause I didn'thave anyincome. So
11 then I started working as a doctor.
12 Q. Atthesametimeyouwerealso tryingto
13 complete your Ph.D.? That was my original
14 question.
15 A. Atonepoint,I was working on themboth,
16yes.
17 Q. Okay.
18 A.Iwaspracticingmedicineandalso
19 working on my Ph.D.
20 Q. Allright. Doyouknow whatyearyou
21 became licensed as adoctor?
22 A.I don't remember. '80 -- well, I don't
2
remember exactly. Thelate '80s and I got--1
think -- I don't remember the -- '88, maybe.
Q. Okay. I won't hold you to it. Late'80s
is--inthelate'80s, the State of New Y ork
licensed you to become a medical doctor?
A. Yes.
Q. Any other states that you applied for
8 licensure with, after you completed your internship
91in1987?
10 A. What--youasked me all of the states
11 thatI've applied for licensure for?
12 Q. Right now, I'm just trying to go
13 chronologically,ifwecan. Ifyouneedto skip
14 ahead, let me know. I'm just--

N NN A W -

15  A.Well, it blurs toge -- you're going -

16 Q. Okay.

17  A.--back 30 years.

18 Q. Iunderstand.

19 A. Andsome ofthe questionsyouask,you're

20 asking questions that span more than one year, so
21it's --it's hard to go exactly chronologically.
22 Q. Okay. So in 19 -- in the late '80s, you

23
1 apply for and received licensure to practice
2 medicine in the State of New York, right?
3 A. Yes.
4 Q. Okay. Andat the same -- around the same
5 time, you're working on your Ph.D., right?
6  A. Right.
7 Q. Okay. Where were you working to earn a
8 paycheck, as yousaid?
9 A. Istarted working -- I worked in
10 emergency rooms as anemergency physician. I
11 worked for Planned Parenthood in New York City,
12 Margaret Sanger Center. I worked for Flushing
13 Gynecology Centerin Queens. Iworked for All
14 Women's Medical Pavilion.  worked for a number of
15 places.
16 Q. Inandaround New York City?

17  A. Thoseareall --mostofthemarein and
18 around New York City --
19 Q. Okay.
20 A. --yes.
21 Q. All right. Now--
22  A.Some ofthe emergency rooms were out a
24
1 ways.
2 Q. Were they in the New York City
3 metropolitan area?
4 A. A couple of them weren't.
5 Q. Where were the couple of them that
6 weren't?
7 A. 1 worked at the United States Military
8 Academy at West Point. I worked at a hospital in

9 Ellenville, New York, in the Catskills. I don't
10 knowifyou knowthegeography. Iworkedata--1
11 forgot wasthathospital -- PortJervis, New York.
12 So that--those are the ones -- those are the ones
13 that werenotin the New York City area. The

14 others were in the New York City area.

15 Q. Okay. I take it, you have never

16 completed any residency or fellowship program,

17 true?

18 A.Ihave never completed a formal residency
19 training program.

20 Q. Otherthantheone-yearinternshipthat

21 you told me about, have you participated in any

22 otherresidency or fellowship program ever?

PLANET DEPOS
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1 A. Well, I did do training. Idon't
2 remember ifit was called a fellowship, butl did a
3 couple of -- I did various trainings, let's put it
4 that way.
5 Q. Allright. Tell me what you mean by
6 trainings.
7 A. ldid training with Planned Parenthood in
8 NewYorkCityatAllWomen's Medical Pavilion. 1
9 worked with Jim McMahon, California. That would
10 be -- Jim was more like a preceptorship. I'm
11 trying to remember them all. With Carl Stave out
12 in -- that was also more like a preceptorship.
13 I tend -- took various courses.
14 Q. Okay.
15  A. Continuing medical educationcourses,
16 went to meetings and that sort of thing.
17 Q. Okay. Soletme goback to my original
18 questionand thenI'llaskaboutyourtrainingin
19 more detail.
20 Am I correct that you have never
21 completed a residency or fellowship program,
22besidesthe oneyearthatyoutoldmeabout?

26
A. I'mnot--I'll agree thatI haven't
completed a formalresidency training program.
Whether those trainings that1 got would be
considered a fellowship -- they're not a formal
fellowship as in-- whichis referred to sometimes
by --sometimes subspecialty training s called a
fellowship.
Q. Um-hum.
9  A. Butsome of these -- one of the --I'm
10 not sure if the word fellowship was used for any of
11 these programs. I'mnotsureifl wantto agree
12 thatI've never done a fellowship, butI've
13 certainly never finished a residency.
14 Q. Right. Haveyoueverbeen
15 Board-certified by any medical board?
16 A.No.
17 Q. Allright. Now, tellme about the
18 training that you did through Planned Parenthood.
19Howlongwasit? Where was it? What'd youdo?
20 A. Wow. Goingbacksolongago. Itwas at
21 the Margaret Sanger Center.
22 Q. Um-hum.

NN AW -

27
1 A. So, first, I worked there as a physician.
2 So the training began as they wanted to hire me to
3 work for them. So before they hired me, they
4 watched me and madesurel knewwhatIwasdoing.
5 Then there was a doctor there who was the
6 medicaldirector,whose name I forget, whokind of
7 worked one-on-one with me for a while, and was
8 training me alittle bit. And then they developed
9 somekindof--1don'tknow whatthey called it --
10 course or some kind of a training program of some
11 sort, which they held there anyway. But they
12 already knew me because I was working for them
13 regularly and they knew that I was working.
14 So they enrolled -- so I enrolled in it,
15 butI wanted to havesomekind of a--other,you
16 know, other than these--1don't know what the
17 word -- preceptorships --
18 Q. Um-hum.
19 A. --justdocumentationoftraining,so I
20 did that.
21 Q. Wasthe Planned Parenthood training that
22 you're referringto a formal training program?

28
A. It was a formal program of--
Q. Okay.
A. -- Planned Parenthood.
Q. Not just on-the-job training, but
something you had to sign up for and there was a --
A. Yeah, I signed --
Q. --curriculum?
8 A. --upforitandall that,I don't--
9 yeah.
10 Q. Howlongwasthetrainingthrough
11 Planned Parenthood?
12 A.I don'tremember.
13 Q. Whowastheperson who was trainingyou
14 through Planned Parenthood?
15 A. His--hewas the medical director,butl
16 forgothis name.

N QNN AW -

17 Q. Okay.

18 A. Imean,this--you'regoing back
19 30 yearsago.

20 Q. Iunderstand.

21  A. Okay.

22 Q. Then you mentioned Dr. McMahon in

PLANET DEPOS
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10
11

29
California. Who's he?

A.He was a doctor that -- well-known
physician who did -- performed pregnancy
termination procedures, and that's who he is.

Q. And was your -- you've referred to your
training with Dr. McMahon as a preceptorship, so
I'm goingto use thatword. Was your preceptorship
with Dr. McMahon before or after the
Planned Parenthood training?

A. Ican't--1don't--I think it was
afterwards because this was for late -- late

12 procedures.

13
14

Q. Okay.

A. Hewas doing-- he was doing cases beyond

15 24 weeks.

16
17
18
19
20
21
22

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

9
10
11
12
13
14

Q. Okay. And did you actually go to
Californiato receive training from Dr. McMahon?
A. Yes.
Q. Howlongwas the training with
Dr. McMahon?
A.1 don't remember. Several months.
Q. So he was teaching you how to -- how to

30
performterminations of pregnancies after 24 weeks?

A. Yes.

Q. And you mentioned Dr. Carl -- I missed
his last name -- Stade?

A. Stave.

Q. How do you spellhis last name?

A. S-t-a-v-e.

Q. And where is Dr. Stave, or was Dr. Stave?

A. Dr. Stave worked in Harrisburg,
Pennsylvania, and I went and trained with him.

Q. For howlong?

A. A year maybe.

Q. Andwhatwasthenature of your training
with Dr. Stave?

15 A. Wewoulddo--itwas training for doing

31
1 Q. Okay.
2 A. Yeah.
3 Q. So other --
4  A. Goahead.
5 Q. Other than the training that youdid
6 through Planned Parenthood in New Y ork City and the
7 two preceptorships you've mentioned to me in
8 Californiaand in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, with
9 Drs.McMahonand Stave, haveyoudoneany other --
10  A. Training.
11 Q. -- training after you finished your
12 resident -- I'm sorry, your internship in 1987?
13 A.Yes. Yes. I trained with Dr. Den.
14 Q. Who -- how do you spell that, D-e-h-n?
15 A. His real -- his full name is
16 Dr. Dengel -- Dengelegi, D-e-n-g-e-l-e-g-i, or
17 something like that, Dengelegi --
18 Q. Um-hum.
19 A. ButeverybodycallshimDr.Den,D-e-n.
201 don'tknow--don'thold me to the spelling. I
21 could be wrong about that.
22 Q. Who is he?

32
A. He was a doctor who --1 think he was a

1
2 professor. He had some kind of affiliation with

3 MountSinai,and he worked with me at Flushing
4 GynecologyCenterandhewas--hewas myfirst--
5 well, not counting training I had before that, but

6 he was the -- my first mentor, I guess you would

7 say, indoing D&E procedures.

8 Q. Okay. So you think that your training

9 with Dr. Den was before you trained with

10 Dr. McMahon and Dr. Stave?

11 A.Yes.

12 Q. Okay. And, I'm sorry --

13 A. Ithinkitwas even before

14Planned Parenthood.

15 Q. Okay. I think I forgot to ask you, the

16 pregnancy termination procedures and office 16 nature of your training with Dr. Stave was what?
17 gynecology. 17 A. Oneon--all of these are one-on-one
18 Q. And do yourecall whether your training 18 seeingpatients there --
19 or preceptorship with Dr. Stave was before or after 19 Q. Okay.
20your training with Dr. McMahon in California? 20 A. --intheroomtogether,doing
21 A.Idon'trememberthesequence. Idon't 21 procedures.
22 remember which. I think it was before. 22 Q. Okay.
PLANET DEPOS
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A. Dr. Stave --

Q. And when you say--

A. -- didn't do late cases. He -- but it
was -- it was interesting to train with each of
these doctors because they all had different
perspectives and you learned something every time
you went with one of them.

Q. Okay. So -- so is it fair to saythat
9 Dr. Denand Dr. Stave were -- your training with
10 those two doctors was on termination of pregnancy?

OIS\ AW -

11  A. And gynecology.
12 Q. Okay.
13 A. Officegynecology. Yeah. Allof this

14 trainingis for terminationof pregnancy--

15 Q. Okay.

16 A.-- office gynecology. None of this

17 training that I'm talking about is -- aside from my

18emergency roomwork, is --none of this is -- is --

19 this is all pregnancy termination, office

20 gynecology.

21 Q. Allright. So we've talked about Planned

22 Parenthood, Dr. McMahon, Dr. Stave, Dr. Den. Any
34

1 other training that you have had since -- ever

2 since finishing your internship in 19877

3 A.Dr.Burnhill.

4 Q. Who is -- what's his first name?

5 A. Michael Burnhill.

6 Q. Do you know Dr. Den's first name?
7 A. Tiberias.

8 Q. Hard to forget.

9  A. Right.

10 Q. And Dr. Burnhill, B-u-r-n-h-i-1-1?
11 A. Yes,ma'am.

12 Q. Whereishe?

13 A. He--well, he's, I think, deceased now.
14 Q. Okay. Where was he when youwere

15 training withhim?

16 A. He was the medical director of the

17 Planned Parenthood Federation of America and he was
18 also a professor of obstetrics and gynecology at

19 Rutgers-- University ofMedicine and Dentistryin

20 New Jersey.

21 Q. Um-hum. Before it was Rutgers?

22 A.Yeah. Idon't know which it was when.

35
1 Q. I think it was the College of Medicine
2 and Dentistry before it changed to Rutgers, but --
3  A.I don'tknow.
4 Q. -- when you were there, it was College of
5 Medicine and Dentistry.
6 A. 1 -- he was a professor there.
7 Q. Okay.
8  A.You know where I'm talking about.
9 Q. I do. All right. So -- and
10 Dr. Burnhill, was he -- where was he in the
11 chronology of the other doctors, ifyou recall?
12 A. Hewas later. He was -- he came in--
13 yeah,hecamein--hecameinlater. Hewas more
14 of a -- by that time, by the time Dr. Burnhill, I
15was trained and I was doing cases, I had done
16thousands of cases and he came in like as a
17 consultantand was advising meon every--the--
18 everything; the aspect of the practice and watching
19 the technique and watching the procedures.
20 And he -- he -- he testified for me, I
21 think;, as an expert witness when my licensing
22 hearings --
36
Q. Um-hum.
A. He had been a consultant for the
New Jersey board in their -- developing their
pregnancy termination regulations, so --

I had actually consulted with him about
the New Jersey regulations and this whole question
of this area even before that, anyway.

Q. Allright. So other than Planned
9 Parenthood, Dr. McMahon, Stave, Den, Bumnhill, any
10 other training that you've received since your
11 internship in 19877
12 A. Well, I'm forgetting somebody, I know.
13 Youmean training in pregnancy termination and
14 officegynecology?
15 Q. Any type of medical training.
16 A. Well, there's -- I have attended many
17 conferences and CME courses and all thatsort of
18 stuff, if that's what you mean.
19 Q. Idon't mean continuing education. I
20 mean, postgraduate training or education. Notjust
21 aone-day or two-day seminar, but --
22 A. Well, some of these are a weeklong

O QNN A W —
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1 things, but courses. I did courses.
2 Q. What courses?
3 A. Oh, a lot. The American College of
4 Obstetricians and Gynecologists has a number of
5 courses. I can'teven remember all the --
6 Q. Okay.
7 A. -- ones I took.
8 Q. You're talking about medical courses that
9 any -- any doctor could sign up for?
10 A.Any--
11 Q. Okay.
12 A.--doctor could sign upfor.
13 Q. Anytype of program, training program
14 that you had to apply for?
15 A. Toapplyfor? Well,you had to apply for
16 the Planned Parenthood program. I can't
17 remember --

18 Q. Okay.
19 A.--any.
20 Q.Andit--

21  A. There may be something, but--

22 Q. And it sounds like thePlanned Parenthood
38

training program that we discussed earlier is -- is

the only formal training program that had a

curriculum and things like -- and a timeline. From

what you're describing, it sounds to me like your

preceptorships, as you've described them with the

various doctors we've talked about, are more

informal on-the-job training programs, not --

A. I wouldn't-- that's -- they're a little

more than that.

10 Q. Okay.

11  A.You said informal.

12 Q. Well, I mean--

13  A.But they're one-on-one preceptorships.

14 Q. Okay. WhatIwould liketo know is did

15 Dr. -- did the doctors that you've mentioned, did

16 they advertise that they were going to do a

17 preceptorship and accept applications froma

D I N DN B Wb —

=

18 variety of peopleand --
19 A.No.

20 Q. -- chooseyou?
21 A.No.

22 Q. Okay.

39
A. No. Dr. Burnhill, for example, I sought
out, because he was considered preeminent authority
in the field and he was near me, and so I wanted --
I sought him --
Q. Okay.
A. -- you know —-
Q. How about the others--
A. -- to be apreceptorship.
9 Q. --Dr. McMabhon, Stave and Den, didyou
10 seek them or did you--
11  A.Dr. McMahon, I sought.
12 Q. Hold on. All right. Sorry. I know it
13 getsveryconversational because youknow exactly
14 what I'm goingto ask you, but for her sake, we
15 have to wait until I finish asking --

R I SN N AW -

16  A. Okay.
17 Q. --thequestionand then youanswerand
18 I'll try to--

19 A. Dr.--bothDr.McMahon and Dr. Burnhill,
20 I had heard speak as speakers --

21 Q. Um-hum.

22  A.-- atconferences.

40
1 Q. Um-hum.
2 A. Andthey wereboth considered preeminent
3 experts in their field, so I sought them out.
4 Q. Okay.
5 A. Dr. Den was also a preeminent expert. He
6 was -- he was a, like I said, I think he was
7 professor of obstetrics and gynecology at Mount
8 Sinai,buthealso happenedtobe medical director,
9 I think, was his title of Flushing. And I was
10 hiredon asadoctor there,so I wasunder him. He
11 waslike my boss. Same thing with the -- with the
12 Planned Parenthood doctor --before I took the
13 Planned Parenthood course, the doctor, whose name
141'm blanking, was my boss. So these wereboth --1
15 was adirect-- they were my direct supervisors --
16 Q. Okay.
17  A. --andthey were--so [ guess it was
18 their responsibility to train me. But Dr. -- the
19 doc -- the doctor at Planned Parenthood, it was his
20 responsibility to train me, or to verify that I
21 was -- by the time I was working at Planned
22 Parenthood, I think he watched me to make -- he
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wanted to do his due diligence to make sure I was
competent and that I could safely perform
procedures before they would let me see patients.
And he sort of watched over what we did and
whatnot. Dr.-- but Dr. Den did more than that.
Hetook meon like as a preceptor and taught me to
do the D&E procedures, which are complicated
procedures.

9 Q. But none of the physicians thatwe've

10 been discussinghad a formal training program for

11 whichthey took applications from anumber of

12 doctors and chose from a variety of applicants,

13 correct?

14 A. Well, I can't -- Dr. Burnhill -- I don't

15 know. Yes, he very wellmay have, both as his --
16 as he -- he was very preeminent in the field.

17 Perhaps, the preeminent doctor in the whole field,
18 as-- both as the national medical director of

19 Planned Parenthood and as professor of obstetrics
20 and gynecology. So I don't-- 1 know he was --1
21knowhewasinvolvedinthe OB/GYNresidency
22 training programandinaccepting people. So he

O I SN N AW N -

42

1 wasinvolvedin--andI--1don'tknow all of his
2 activities, but --

3 Q. You --sir, you indicated to me that you

4 sought out Dr. Burnhill--

5 A. Yes.

6 Q. -- because of his expertise.

7 A. Yes.

8 Q. Okay. Hedid not have a program that you
9 appliedforandhechoseyoufromavariety of

10 applicants, true?

11 A. Hehad--firstofall,I1 don'tknow

12 what-- all what programs he had --

13 Q. Um-hum.

14 A. --and--and whathisrole. He did many
15 things, which I'm not fully aware of all of them.

16 So I believe he was involved in some programs that

17 accepted applicants, butI didn't come to him

18 through one of those--
19 Q. Okay.
20 A.--kind of programs. I specifically

21 targeted him. Hewas --Imean, I was tryingto
22improve, as bestI can as a physician, and he

43
1 was--so I --1sought him out to help me.
2 Q. When you did your internal medicine and
3 emergencyroommedicineinternship through the New
4 York Medical College, that was a program that you
5 applied for and youmatched and you were accepted?
6 A. Um-hum.
7 Q. And you completed the program, right?
8 A. Correct.
Q. Okay. Sincethatprogram,have youever
10 gone through another process where you have
11 submitted anapplication for a trainingprogramor
12 medical educational program that you were one of a
13 number of applicants and had to be chosen or
14 selected for?
15 A. Planned Parenthood.
16 Q. Any others?
17  A. Well, there've been a number of courses
18 where you would apply and you had to be accepted,
19whichI'vetaken. Idon'tknow howselective they
20 were,butI mean, mostofthese arelike continuing
21 medical education courses like the American College
22 of OB/GYN.

o

44

Q. I'm not talking about courses. I'm
talking about training programs where you applied
and a number of other doctors applied --

A. Well, the course might be considered a
training.

Q. Okay. I'mnottalkingabout continuing
medical education courses that are put on through
ACOG or the -- any other member institution like
the ABA. I'm talking about--

10 A.The ABA?

11 Q. I'msorry. I'm in law. The AMA.

12 A.The American Basketball Association.
13 Q. No. No.

14  A. You a basketballfan?

15 MR. GREANEY: Yeah.

16 Q. WethinkofitastheBar Association.

17 I'm talking about --

18 A. Oh, the Bar Association.

19 Q. -- the AMA or ACOG. I'm talking about
20 training programs that you apply for, go through an
21 application process and that you were accepted for
22 and then start and finish. Since your internship,

0 3 ON WU AW
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have you done that?
A. I'm sorry. Well, yes. I mean, there was

the Planned Parenthood program. And then I'm not
sure, some of these other things, whether they
qualify as whatyou're describing. Yes, I think
you have to apply for them and you do have to be
accepted into some of these courses.

Now, so the courses I'm describing what
9 mightbe considered training, they're not residency
10 training, they're not fellow -- they're not
11 fellowships. But I think you apply and you have to
12 attend and you complete and you get a certificate.
13 And I've done many of those.
14 Q. Okay. Are you a member of ACOG?
15 A. Iamnotafellowofthe American College
16 of OB/GYN.

O SN AW~

17 Q. Have you everbeen?

18  A. A fellow?

19 Q. Yeah.

20 A. No.

21 Q. Are you eligible to be a fellow?

22 A. They have a category -- well, I don't

46
1 knownowbecausemy--mylicense hasbeenrevoked,
2 but they had -- atleast they have some kind of
3 category--
4 Q. Um-hum.
5 A. --for non-OB/GYNs,whichIdon't--1'm
6 notsureiflwas--wasa--wasqualifiedforor
7 not. ButI'mnot--I'mnot--1didn't complete
8 anOB/GYNresidency training program.
9 Q. Um-hum. Tellmeallthe statesinwhich
10 you have ever had a medical license.
11  A.New York. New Jersey. Pennsylvania.
12 California. Florida. And Georgia. I think that's
13 it.
14 Q. Youeverhadamedical license in

15 Maryland or Virginia?

16 A. No.

17 Q. How about Delaware?

18 A. No.

19 Q. Okay. Your New Yorklicense, that has

20 been revoked?
21 A. Yes.
22 Q. Asofwhen?

47
1 A. '94.
2 Q. Do you currently have any active medical
3 licenses in any state?
4 A. No.
5 Q. Have they all been revoked?
6 A. No.
7

Q. Okay. All right. So then let's talk

8 aboutthem individually. When your medical license
9 wasrevokedin 1994, in New York, what -- why was
10 that?

11  A. That's a long story.
12 Q. Give me the shortversion.
13 A. My version, or their version? Because

14 those are different versions.

15 Q. Whatisyour understanding as to why your

16 medical license was revoked by the State of

17 New York in 1994?

18 A.Idid two second trimester pregnancy

19 termination procedures. Both of these procedures
20 had known and accepted complications. One was a
21 uterine perforation and one was a cervical

22 laceration. I believe I handled them

48
1 appropriately. Both patients are alive and well
2 today. Both patients had known and accepted
3 complications.
4 We called the chairman of -- the national
5 medical director of Planned Parenthood Federation
6 of America, Michael Policar, to testify as an
7 expert,whosaidhehadthesameexactcomplication
8 withthesameexactoutcomesandhiscarewouldn't
9 have been any different than mine.
10 However, the state alleged that I
11 mishandled -- effectively, that  mishandled the
12 complications. And we were put in front of a panel
13 that was selected by the state, which was headed by
14 a perinatologist, who informed our attorney that he
15 didn't think these procedures should be legal and
16 the procedures should be criminal from the
17 beginning. He wanted to dismiss Dr. Policar out of
18 hand because he did abortions, so, obviously, he's
19 not an expertin doing abortions and so they
20 rejected our expert'stestimony.
21 They made a finding that it was gross
22 negligence for me to even do the procedure, even

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM



http://www.planetdepos.com/

Case 1:14-cv-01339-CCB Document 109-3 Filed 03/15/18 Page 14 of 101

Transcript of Steven C. Brigham, M.D.

13 (49 to 52)

Conducted on October 31, 2017

49
though that allegation wasn't charged and wasn't
defended and then theysaid that everything that
flows fromthatis, you know--and then they went
on to just find everything was wrong --

Q. Okay.
A. -- with what I did.
Q. So the termination of your license in
New York in'94 dealt with, generally speaking,
complications that arose in two -- two different
10 patients?
11  A. So two patients.
12 Q. Okay. How about in New Jersey, when did
13 you -- when was your license in New Jersey revoked?
14 A.In2014.
15 Q. And what are the circumstances
16 surrounding the revocation of your license in
17 New Jersey in2014?
18 A. New Jersey alleged thatI violated the
19 law of Maryland.
20 Q. Um-hum. Anddid thatdeal withthe
21 patientwho -- whose terminationstarted in
22 New Jersey and she drove to Maryland to have the

50
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completion of the termination?

A. There were a number of patients. I mean,
the -- I gave youthe short --

Q. Right.

A. -- version. There were multiple
allegations --

Q. Okay.
8 A. -- in that revocation. I can go through
9 themall,ifyouwantor--howfastorshortyou
10 want. Butthe central allegation, atleastin the
11 view ofmy attorneys --
12 Q. Um-hum.
13 A. -- was that, although Maryland never
14 accused me of violating Maryland law, New Jersey
15 did -- what did they say -- because Maryland
16changedthelawthreeyearsafter Iwasdoingthis,
17 the New Jersey administrative law judge took the
182012 or '13 law and applied it backwards in time to
192009 and said that, based on that, 1 had violated

~ SN Nt bW —

51
1 they did.
2 Q. I'm sure. You've -- but you'venever
3 been licensed in Maryland?
4  A.No. Never licensed in Maryland. That
5 was the whole --
6 Q. Um-hum.
7  A.--point, that I was engagingin
8 consultation with a Maryland licensed physician.
9 Q. Allright. Pennsylvania, whenwas your
10 license in Pennsylvania revoked?
11  A.It was notrevoked.
12 Q. Okay. Is your--youtold me, at one
13 point, you did have a license in Pennsylvania,
14 correct?
15 A. Istill have a license in Pennsylvania.
16 Q. Oh, I'm sorry. I misunderstood. I
17 thought I asked you if you still had any medical
18 license anywhere in any state. Ithought --

19 A.You said active.
20 Q. Okay.
21 A.I don't have an activelicense.
22 Q. Okay.
52
1 A. But mylicense has notbeen revoked. I
2 have an inactivelicense.
3 Q. Allright. If you wanted to make your
4 Pennsylvanialicense active today, would you be
5 eligible to do so, as you understand it?
6  A.Well -- excuse me. According to my
7 lawyers, on the one hand, I would be legally
8 eligible to do that.
9 Q. Um-hum.
10  A. They also said that, given all the

11 disciplinary action that has occurred since that
12time--didtheysaysnowball's chanceinhell?
13 Something like that.

14 Q. Okay.

15 A. Theyhad a very -- although, legally, I

16 guess I could apply and am eligible, to answer your
17 question, they said --

18 Q. Okay.

19 A. --sinceldon'thave any money to pay

20 Maryland law. 20 anylegalfees anditwouldbeabigwaste of time
21 Q. Okay. 21 to--
22 A. Which we think is unfair, but that's what 22 Q. Okay.
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1 A. - try to do that.
2 Q. Have you ever had anydisciplinary
3 proceedings against your medical license in the
4 State of Pennsylvania?
5 A.No.
6 Q. Okay.
7 A. No. I take that back. After -- oh, no,
8 there were no final disciplinary actions.
9 Q. Was any disciplinary action ever
10 initiated against your license in Pennsylvania?

11  A.Yes.
12 Q. When?
13  A. Boy,I'mgoing to -- this was -- this was

14 after -- this was in-- I don't remember the exact
15year. I want to say '99, 2000, 2001.
16 Q. Okay. And whatwas the nature of the
17 proceeding?
18 A. Thenatureoftheproceeding was that
19 they made a motion to revoke my -- revoke my
20 Pennsylvanialicense,based uponactionin
21New York, but then that was -- then Pennsylvania
22 withdrew that or dismissed it, or it went away, so
54

nothing occurred.

Q. Is that talking -- referring back to the
action in New Y ork that had been taken against your
New York license in the mid'90s?

A. 1 don't rememberexactly.

Q. But it was dropped? Whatever it was, it
was dropped?

A. Whatever it was -- they started something
and they dropped it.
10 Q. Okay. HowaboutCalifornia, wasany
11 disciplinary action ever taken against your
12 California license?

O NN AW -

o

13 A.Yes.

14 Q. When?

15  A.In the '90s.

16 Q. Whatwasthenature ofthatdisciplinary

17 action?

R I SN N AW -

9

55

the --

Q. Um-hum.

A. SoNew Jerseyretried those same two
cases and came up with the opposite decisions, I
did nothing wrong, my care met acceptable standards
of care. So New York-- California was confronted
with opposing decisions, if you will; new York,
which said I was horrible and terrible and did
everything wrong; and New Jersey, which said I did

10 nothing wrong. So California offered me some kind

11
12
13

of a consent agreement, which I don't remember the
terms of, and I signed it.
Q. Okay. Soyou--you--whateverthe

14 terminology is, you voluntarily agreed not to

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

O QNN AW -
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14
15
16

practice medicine in California and to --

A. I volunteer --

Q. -- surrender your license?

A. Oh,no, no,no. Inever surrendered the
license.

Q. Okay.

A. Ivoluntarily agreed to do anumber of
things beforel could practice there. I had to

56
take a course and I had to be under probation. 1
had to be under whatnot -- a number of things.
That's the first thing California did. Then --
that was when they had the two opposing decisions.
Then when New Jersey -- suspended my

license? They suspended my license before they
revoked it in the 2000 -- 2010s. California, I
think, suspended itin reciprocal action, and then
Ididn't renewit.

Q. Okay.

A. And then it -- it--

Q. Okay.

A. --it --

Q. Okay.

A. Well,itwentaway administratively. It
wasn't--1didn'tlose my license because of --

17theydidn'trevokemylicense. Ididn't--1just

18 A.New York had revoked my license -- 18 didn't renew it.

19 Q. Um-hum. 19 Q. So in 2000 --

20 A. --based on the allegations that I said. 20  A. That'smy memory ofit. It's kind of

21 And then New Jersey had retried -- remember those |21 complicated.

22 two cases I told you about, the New York with 22 Q.In2010, when New Jersey suspended your
PLANET DEPOS
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license before -- before it was ultimately revoked
by New Jersey in 2014, at the same time, in 2010,
California suspended your license in a reciprocal
license?

A. I -- you know -- it's all blurry. I
6 don'tremember exactly the --1 know that--no. I
7 may take thatback because California then offered
8 measecond--asecondthing where--asecond
9 consentagreement, which had morerestrictive terms
10 and conditions than the first one. I can't
11 remember the--
12 Q. Okay.
13 A. -- details and I'm under oath. I want
14to--1don'twantto say the wrong thing and --
15 and -- but there were two agreements. Ultimately,
161 didn'trenewthelicense. The truthis, I never
17 practiced there ever since Jim McMahon and all that
18 stuff.

N B~ WD -

19 Q. Okay.
20 A. Andso I just never renewed the license.
21 Q. Not --
22 A. AndIdidn't want-- I didn't want -- I
58
1 didn't--1would have also had to hire lawyers, I
2 didn'thave any money and it was a big mess.
3 Q. Notwithstanding the hiring of lawyers and
4 themoney, are you eligible to renew your license
5 orreinstate your license in California today?
6  A.AmlI eligible? I don'tknow.
7 Q. Okay.
8 A. That's a good question. I hadn't thought
9 aboutit.
10 Q. Soltakeit,youhaveno intention of

11 doing that rightnow?

12 A.Idon't--look,whetherI'mlegally

13 eligible or whether I'm able to do it --

14 Q. Um-hum.

15 A. -it'skindoflike Pennsylvania, you

16 know--

17 Q. Um-hum.

18 A.--you'reaskingmewhetherI'mlegally
19eligible, I'mnotsure whether--Iam--don't
20 have the money and I don't plan on doingit.
21 Q. How aboutFlorida?

22  A. Floridarevoked mylicense inreciprocal

59
1 action, based upon the original New York
2 revocation.
3 Q. Okay. And how about Georgia?
4 A. Georgia, there was no disciplinary
5 action. Ididn't-- I was -- if I remember right,
6 and,youknow,I've got to be careful because I'm
7 saying all this -- I'm saying this under oath, but
8 I'mtryingto be cooperative, so pleasedon't hold
9 me to exactly this stuff because I could be wrong
10aboutsome of these-- the exactdetails. Butmy
11 memory of Georgia was that I was licensed there and
12 it was -- and I didn't renew it. It was -- and
13 they called it --1 don't know. I didn't renew it.
14 Q. It lapsed?
15 A. Yeah.
16 Q. Okay.
17 A.Ithink they said it was administratively
18 revoked was their words, but it was not a
19 disciplinary action. It was-- I didn't renewit,
20 inessence. Idon'thave a Georgialicense.
21 Can we take a five-minute break?
22 MS. MALARKEY: Sure.

60
1 THE WITNESS: Just for asecond.
2 MS. MALARKEY: Yep.
3 THE WITNESS: This is a good time.
4 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're going off the
5 record, the time is 10:30 a.m.
6 (Recess taken.)
7 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We are back on the
8 record, the time is 10:35 a.m.
9 BY MS.MALARKEY:
10 Q. Okay. Doctor,awhileago,youmentioned
11 thatyouhadworked forthe U.S. Military Academy
12 at West Point. What did youdo for the U.S.
13 Military Academy and when did youdo it?
14 A.Iworkedinthe emergency room as an
15 emergency room physician at Keller Army Community
16 Hospital at-- at the U.S. Military Academyin
17 West Point. AndI also covered the hospital at
18 night.
19 Q. Um-hum.
20  A. IncludingIdelivered a couple ofbabies,
21didafew thingsthere for them. Covering--1
22 covered the whole hospital.

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM



http://www.planetdepos.com/

Case 1:14-cv-01339-CCB Document 109-3 Filed 03/15/18 Page 17 of 101

Transcript of Steven C. Brigham, M.D.

16 (61 to 64)

Conducted on October 31, 2017

61
1 When did I do this? I did it in the

2 early '90s, I'll justleave it at that. I know

3 theycalled me back during the Persian Gulf War,

4 theywereshortofdoctors andso I kind of went

5 back as a--

6 Q. Do you have a résumé?

7  A.-- patriotic thing.

8 I didn't-- no, I didn't bring a résumé.

9 Q. Doyoumaintainarésuméor keep a

10 résumé?

11  A.I don'tnormally.

12 Q. Okay. What I'd like to do is go through

13 your employment history, and to the best of your

14 ability -- I'd kind of leave itopen ended to you,

15 go chronologically following your internship.

16 A.Oh, mygoodness.

17 Q. AndIunderstandthere'sbeenmanyplaces

18 and youmightnot havethe order or sequence or

19 years correct, but I'd just like to get a general

20 sense of your employment history before we can

21 narrow itdown.

22 A.Idon'tknow thatl can remember all of
62

1 this. I'm sorry. I mean --

2 MR.GREANEY: Justprovide whatyou can

3 recall.

4 Q. Um-hum. I mean, we can start withthe

5 conclusion of your internship. What's the --

6 think you told me you were working for

7 Planned Parenthood at the same time you were

8 working on your Ph.D.

9  A. Um-hum. I'wasworking for Planned--so

10 at the conclusion of my internship, I --1--

11 (Telephone interruption.)

12 A.Excuse me. I'm sorry. I can't answer.

13 Q. If you need to get it, let meknow.

14 A. Ican't--Ican'ttalkright now. I

15 just can't do this.

16 Allright. Sogo ahead. Wherewerewe?

17 At the con -- oh --

18 Q. You were working --

19  A. Whatthings--allmyemploymenthistory.

20 Well,Iworked anumber--1told youa numberof

21 the hospitals, I did emerg -1 worked as an

63
emergency room work that I almost qualified to take
the Boards. IfI had just been either a year or
two older or done a little bit more ER work, I
would havebeen grandfatheredintobe qualified as
anemergencyroom--takethe Boardsinemergency
medicine.

I remember --

Q. So let me -- let me stop you just for a
9 second. The hospitals that you mentioned earlier
10 are the Ellenvale Hospital in the Catskills and the
11 Port Jervis Hospital, you were doing emergency
12 medicine at those two?
13 A. Well, those are the ones outside -- yes,
14 these wereall ER-- ER--1wasworkingasan ER
15 physician.

R I SN N AW -

16 Q. Okay.
17 A. Thoseweretheonesoutside of New York
18 City.

19 Q. Okay. Andthe onesinNew York City,
20 were you also working as an ER physician?

21  A.Yes.

22 Q. Okay. Where else have you practiced as

64
an ER physician, besides the ones we've talked
about, if anywhere?

A. What other hospitals?

Q. Yeah.

A. Oh,I1don'tknowifI can remember them
all. There was that hospital in Queens called
Parkway or something --1forgotthe name of that
one. ThenIworked at Lincoln Hospital, South
Bronx. Harlem Hospital.

10 Whereelse didI work as an ERdoc? 1
11 don'tremember all of the hospitals in New York.
12 Q. Were you living in New York at the time?
13 A.Yes.

14  Q.And--

15 A.I was living in Manhattan, I--

16 Q. And were you working kind ofas an

17 independent contractor, alocumtenens for these
18 hospitals or as an employee of the hospitals

19 themselves?

20 A.I think it - it was different.

21 Sometimes, I was an employee the hospital.

OIS N W —
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22 emergency room physician. I had done enough 3 Sometimes, I was working for - there were
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staff the hospital of the emergency rooms.

Q. Okay.

A. But I was always working as a --
basically, as a -- either as a -- solely, as an
emergency room. Inthebigger hospitals, it was
justtheemergencyroom. Inthesmaller hospitals
like Ellenvale or West Point, whichis actually a
9 smallerhospital,you--I1wouldbethe--inthose
10situations, I would be the only doc -1 would be
11 the only doctor in the hospital. So I was covering
12 the ICU and covering labor and delivery --

RO I NN AW -

13 Q. Um-hum.
14  A.--andcovering the ER and everything.
15 Q. Andatsomepoint, your career, [ take

161it, transitioned from emergency medicineto
17 gynecology and pregnancy termination services?

18 A.Yes.
19 Q. Approximately, when was that?
20 A. Well, therewas a--fromwhen I

21 graduated in medical school in '86 and finished my

22res --theinternshipin '87, from '87 until '95, 1
66

1 was sort of doing both.

2 Q. Okay.

3 A. But I was transitioning -- there came a

4 pointwhereIwas considering becoming anemergency

5 room physician full time professionally. Atone

6 point,Itold youl was -- thought I was

7 grandfatheredin. ThenlIwas, at one point,

8 considering -- then what was happening was they

9 werecomingoutwith ERmedicineresidencytraining

10 programs. AndIthought about applying for a

11 residency. AndIguess Idecided not to.

12 AndthenIhad--then--so--

13 Q. Sofocusonmy question,sowedon'thave

14 to bring youback for asecond day, because [ know

15 you have atime constraint. When

16 chronologically --

17  A.By'95,Iwasmostly--Iwasdoing

18 pregnancy termination and --

19 Q. Okay.

20 A.-- gynecology. And I would have

21 stopped--1don't think-- Idon't remember

22 exactlywhat year. West Point kept wanting me to

companies that were staffing companies that would | 1

67
come back, butl don't remember the --1don't
2 remember exactly what year, but by -- certainly by
3 thelate '90s, I had stopped the ER stuff.
4 Q. Okay. You are the president of American
5 Physicians Associates or American Medical
6 Associates?
7  A. American Physicians Associates?
8 Q. Thename of your company, is it American
9 Medical Associates now?

10 A. The American Medical Associates,P.C.--
11 Q. Um-hum.
12 A. --isacorporation. It's defunct. But

131 was the president of it.
14 Q. Okay. Whendid you --did you form
15 American Medical Associates, P.C.?
16 A. Ithinkalawyerdid.
17 Q. Were you the president of American
18 Medical Associates, P.C. when it was formed?
19 A.Yes.
20 Q. Okay. Thelawyerdidthepaperwork for
21you, butitwas yourideato start thecompany,
22 true?

68
1 A. Yes, I guess.
2 Q. Whenwas--whendid AmericanMedical
3 Associates, P.C. become defunct, to use your word?
4  A.I don't remember exactly.
5 Q. Well, was it within the last year, two
6 years, five years?
7  A. Certainly within the last five years.
8 Pretty much--yeah, it was certainly within the
9 last five years.
10 Q. Any finer point than that?
11  A.It--1 mean, what happened was
12 Associates lost its licenses, so it had no more
13revenue, so it just fizzled out basically.
14 Q. When you say--
15 A. Butwhendidit-- whendiditfizzle
160out? I--1--1don'tknow. Itwas sortofa
17fizzling out. So whendid--whendid--whenwas
18itdead versus fizzling? I don'tknow exactly.
19 Q. What--whenyousay, Associates lostits
20 license, what do youmean?
21 A.So American Medical Associates was
22 providing physicians for -- there was a company,
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Associates -- I forget the full name -- and they

1
2 were licensed in Maryland as abortion clinics, and
3 Maryland revoked their licenses.
4 Q. Okay. Let's back up for asecond.
5 When did you form, with the help of a
6 lawyer, American Medical Associates, P.C.?
7  A.I don'tremember.

8 Q. Mid '90s? Late '90s? Early 2000s?

9  A.Ijustdon't remember. I'm sorry.

10 Q. Okay. Didanybodyelseformthatcompany
11 withyou? Werethere any other owners, I mean?

12 A. No.

13 Q. Werethereany other stakeholders, people
14 who had a property --

15 A.Iwas--

16 Q. -- interest in that company?

17  A.No.

18 Q. Okay. So you -- you were the sole and

19 exclusiveowner and president of American Medical
20 Associates when it wasformed?

21  A.Yes.

22 Q. Was there ever a time during its

70
existence -- and by its, | mean, American Medical
Associates, P.C. -- that they had had any other
owners, besides you, or shareholders or members?

A. What -- you mean stockholders?

Q. Anyone else who had an ownership interest
inthe company; stockholders, members, whatever you
called them.

A. Idon'tknow whatyou mean by membership
state -- there were no other stockholders.

10 Q. Okay. Besides American Medical

11 Associates, P.C. -- which, by the way, did American
12 Medical Associates, P.C. conduct business as

13 American Women's Services at any time?

14  A. No.

15 Q. Didyouever own a company named American
16 Women's Services?

17  A. No.

18 Q. Areyoufamiliarwithacompanycalled

19 American Women's Services?

L 3O DN AW —
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1 American Medical Associates, never did business,
2 underthetrade name, American Women's Services?
3 A. Not that I remember, no. I think
4 American Women's Services is a trade name. |
5 mean--well, let me qualify. American Medical
6 Associates,P.C.provided physicians for acompany
7 thatlthink had a trade name of American Women's
8 Services, so does that mean that they were -- 1
9 don't know what that means, that's whatit did.
10 I know what that means that American
11 Medical Associates was -- what was the question,
12 was it practicing as American Women's Services?
13 Q. Did American -- American Medical
14 Associates, P.C., your company that you were the
15 owner of, ever do business underatrade name,
16 American Women's Services?
17  A. Not that - no, I don't think so.
18 Q. Did you ever have an ownership interest
19 inany company called American Women's Services?
20 A. No.
21 Q. Haveyouhadanownershipinterestinany
22 othercompany ever, besides American Medical

72
1 Associates?
2 A. Yes. I have had other companies in the
3 past.
4 Q. Okay. Tell me what companies. What are
5 thenames of the companies with which you have had
6 an ownership interest?
7 A. 1 don't remember.
8 Q. Any of them?
9 A. There--well, there wereseveral,and
10they'realldefunctand outofbusiness,sol
11 mean --
12 Q. Whether they're defunct or not, I'm
13 interested inknowing what other companies you have
14 ever had an ownership in, besides American Medical
15 Associates, P.C.
16  A. Oh, my goodness. Well, there was one--
17 I don't remember the name of that company. Let me
18 think, going back, thinking through them all.
19 There was one called Warren Medical Management.

20 A.I'mnot familiar with any such company 20 Q. Warren, W-a-r-r-e-n?
21 named American Women's Services. 21  A. Yeah.
22 Q. And, to your knowledge, your company, 22 Q. Okay.
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1 A. Therewas American Practice --1forgot

2 thelast word of it. There was -- what was the

3 nameofthatcompany? E --ELabor something. I|3

4 mean, you're --

5 Q. Did you say ELab?

6  A.E --1 amtrying to remember.

7 Q. What is ELab?

8  A.Imighthave the name wrong. It was --
9 itwas thatlawyer, Jerry Chariton, he formed --
10 no, Nallab. Nallab. Nallab.

11 Q. Okay.

12 A. Nallab. Excuse me. N-a-l-1-a-b.

13 Q. And the lawyer is who, Jerry?

14  A.Jerry Chariton.

15 Q. And who is he?

16 A. He was an attorney.

17 Q. Andwhatwasthenature of your business

18 interest with Nallab?
19 A. You mean what did Nallab do?
20 Q. Well,Iasked you forthecompanies in
21 whichyou had an ownership interest and --
22  A.Right.
74
Q. --you -- you mentioned Warren Medical
Management, American Practice something and Nallab.
A. You mean inthe past. You're talking
about in the past.
Q. Ever. Yes.
A. Ever. Yeah. Yeah. Yeah. I -- 1 don't
7 remember all--
8 Q. Okay.
9 A. 1 mean, there were a number of
10 corporations or entities. They're all defunct
11 or--
12 Q. Whatisyour--whatwas yourownership
13 interest in Nallab?

SN N AW —
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1 A. Idon'tthinkWarren MedicalManagement
2 did.
Q. Howabout American Practice, whatever the
4 third word is, did that company provide pregnancy
5 termination services?
6  A.They did not, I don't think.
7 Q. Didyouco-own Warren Medical Management
8 withothers, or were you the exclusive owner of
9 that company?
10  A. You know, this is so long ago. This
11is--this,you'regoing back to the early--the
12mid '90s. I don'tremember. I'msorry.
13 Q. Howabout American Practice whatever the
14 thirdword is, did you own thatwithanybody else
15 or by yourself?
16 A.I don'tremember.
17 Q. Canyouthinkofanyothercompanies that
18 youhavehad a partial or full ownership interest
19 in ever?
20 A. I'mtryingto go back and thinkbackin
21time. Therewere other companies. Itis notthe
22 entire--
76
Q. Can you--
A. - list.
Q. Can you think of any of the names of any
of those other companies, sitting here today?
A. I don't want to misspeak. I'munder
oath. American Medical Services.
Q. Okay. What is American Medical Services?
8 A. Well,itdoesn'texistanymore,butit
9 was acorporation thatprovided medical care.
10 Q. Did American Medical Services provide
11 pregnancytermination services?
12 A.Yes.
13 Q. Wereyouthesoleownerof American

NN N BN

14  A.I don'tremember. 14 Medical Services?

15 Q. What did Nallabdo? 15 A.No.

16 A. Honestly, I don't remember. 16 Q. Who --

17 Q. Whatdid Warren Medical Managementdo? |17 A. Oh,yes. Yes,Iwas. Yes,I was.

18 A.I believe they did management. 18 Excuseme.

19 Q. Ofwhat? 19 Q. When did you form American Medical

20 A. Of medical offices. 20 Services?

21 Q. Did Warren Medical Managementprovide 21 A. I wantto say in the early '90s.

22 pregnancy terminationservices? 22 Q. When youformed American Medical
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Associates, PC, the firstcompany we talked about,

1
2 where was that company formed? In what state?

3  A.I believe in Pennsylvania.

4 Q. Okay. How about American Medical

5 Services, whatstate was thatcompany incorporated
6 in?

7  A.New Jersey.

8 Q. Okay. Is there a business relationship

9 between American Medical Associates and American
10 Medical Services?

11  A.Now -- no. No.

12 Q. Okay.

13 A. They're both defunct. There is no

14 relationship. They'reall--thereis--thereis

15 nothing for any of these.

16 Q. Was there ever arelationship between

17 AmericanMedical Associates and American Medical
18 Services?

19 A.No.

20 Q. Canyouthinkofanyother companies that
21youhavehadasole orpartial ownership interest

22 atanytime, besides theones you'vementioned?

78

A. I don'tremember them right now --

Q. How about--

A. -- as we sithere.

Q. How about Englewood?

A. Whatabout-- Englewood -- Englewood
Women's Services --

Q. Yeah.

A. -- LLC. Yes. What about that?
9 Q. Isthatacompanythatyouhaveasoleor
10 partial ownership interestin?
11  A.No.
12 Q. Who owns Englewood Women's Services?
13  A.Idon'tknow.
14 Q. Haveyoueverhadanownershipinterest
15 in Englewood Women's Services?
16 A.No.
17 Q. Why did you submit -- well, did you
18 submit an application for bankruptcy on behalfof
19 that corporation lastyear?
20 A.Did I -- did I -- did I personally? I
21didso--1--therewas an application for
22bankruptcy submitted.

RIS\ U AW -
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Q. By you?

A. By Englewood.

Q. Okay.

A. By the attorney for Englewood.

Q. Okay. Do you know why your name is on
the petition for bankruptcy filed on behalf of
Englewood Women's Services in2016?

A. Do I know why?

9 Q. Yeah.

10  A. Yes.

11 Q. Why?

12 A. Because Dr. Kaji asked me to doit.

13 Q. What do youmean?

14  A. Englewood Women's Services was the tenant
15 to a lease and there was a -- I'm trying to

16 remember now. There was a -- they were behind in
17 their rent. They're behind in their rent. And

18 they were -- they were going to be evicted.

19 Q. Um-hum.

20 A. Andso--sowedidn't wantthem to be

21 evicted.

22 Q. Who is we?

L QN N AW N —
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A. Me and Dr. Kaji.

Q. Okay. What is your relationshipwith
Dr. -- you're talking about Vikram Kaji?

A.Yes, ma'am.

Q. And what is your relationship with
Dr. Vikram Kaji?

A. We are colleagues.

Q. Professional physician colleagues?

A. Yeah.
10 Q. Okay. Does Dr. Kajihave an ownership
11 interestin Englewood Women's Services, to your
12 knowledge?
13  A. Not to my knowledge, no.
14 Q. Okay. So it's your understanding that
15 yourprofessional colleague, Dr. Kaji,whohadno
16 ownership interest in Englewood Women's Services
17 whatsoever, asked you to submit a petition for
18 bankruptcy on behalfofthat corporation because it
19 was behind initsrentand was goingto be evicted?
20 A. Yeah, because Dr. Kaji owned a company
21thatwas practicing there. Itwas a subtenantof
22Englewood. So theydidn't--hedidn'twant--he
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1 didn't want the facility to get evicted.
2 Q. Why did you submit the petition for
3 bankruptcy?
4  A. So that they wouldn't get evicted.
5 Q. They, being Englewood?
6  A.Yeah.
7 Q. You have no ownership interest in
8 Englewood Women's Services whatsoever?
9 A. Thave no personal ownership in Englewood
10 Women's Services, no.
11 Q. Have youever?
12 A.No.
13 Q. So you submitted a petition for
14 bankruptcy on behalfofa corporation that you have
15 no financial or business interest in whatsoever?
16 A. Right. I told the trustee thatat the
17 time.
18 Q. Okay. How about RoseHealth Services,
19 are you familiar with that corporation?
20 A.lam.
21 Q. Haveyoueverhadanownershipinterest
22 inacompany called Rose Health Services?
82
A. No.
Q. At any time?
A. No.
Q. What is your understanding as to what
that company is?
A.Well, it doesn't exist anymore is my
7 understanding.
8 Q. Okay. When it existed, what wasit?
9  A. Itwasanonprofit. Myunderstandingis,
10andI--I'mreciting the--myunderstandingis,
11 butI'm--I'mnot--I'mnot certain of this and
12I'mnotan attorney, is thatit was a nonprofit
13 corporation.
14 Q. That provided pregnancy termination
15 services?
16 A.I'mnotsureifit--ifit was the one
17thatwas providing pregnancy terminations.

AN N B W -

18 (Telephone interruption.)
19 A.I can't take this right now. Sorry.
20 Go ahead.

21 Q. DoyouknowwhoownedRose Health
22 Services Company whenitwas inexistence?

83
1 A. I believe that it was anonprofit
2 corporation that was owned by Judith Fitch.
3 Q. Okay. How about Englewood Women's
4 Services, do you know who owned it?
5 A.ldon't
6 Q. So in dealing with the bankruptcy
7 proceedings, younever came to learn who owned
8 Englewood Women's Services?
9 A. Whatdoyoumean? Inever cameto
10know -- learn?
11 Q. Yeah. Sitting here today, do you have
12 any knowledge of who owns Englewood Women's
13 Services?
14 A. Idon'tknow. I can--1don't know,
15 offhand, who owns Englewood Women's Services.
16 Q. Howabout Allentown Medical Services,
17 have you ever had an ownership interestina
18 company with that name?
19 A.Not that Iremember.
20 Q. Howabout a company called Grace Medical
21 Care, haveyoueverhad an ownership interestina
22 company with thatname?

84

A. Grace Medical Care, I don't think was a
company.

Q. Whatis--do youknow what Grace Medical
Careis?

A. Itwas --1don'tthinkitwas --1 mean,
Idon'tknowwhattosay. I don'tthinkitexisted
as a separate entity.

Q. Okay. What -- what do you believe Grace
Medical Care to be?

10  A.I don't think it is anything. To be,

11 that implies thatit's something, but I don't think
12 it isanything.

13 Q. Haveyoueverheard ofabusiness

14 operation called Grace Medical Care?

15 A.Ihaveheardthatname,Grace Medical
16 Care,yes.

17 Q. Have you ever been affiliated with an

18 institution that called itself Grace Medical Care?

19 A. I have--institutioncalleditself Grace
20Medical Care? I'mnotsurethat--1'mnot--1
21 wantto--1I'msure how to answer that question.
22 Q. Have you ever provided pregnancy
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termination services or gynecological health
services under a business operating as the name
Grace Health Service -- I'm sorry, Grace Medical
Care?

A. Would you repeat that question, please?
Q. You--when I asked you about a company
or business named, Grace --
A. Yes.
Q. -- Medical Care --
10  A. Right.
11 Q. --youindicated thatthat wasaname
12 that was familiar to you.
13  A. Iknow that name, Grace Medical Care,
14 yes.
15 Q. How do you know that name?
16 A. Iprovided--Iprovided,asaphysician,
17 pregnancy termination procedures for an
18 organization that -- I -- I'm not sure what the
19 connection was to that name. That used that name,
20 or I don't know what exactly the story -- the
21 situation.
22 Q. Wereyouever employed by an entity named

L O\ Ut AW~
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Grace Medical Care?

1

2 A. No.

3 Q. Okay. How about Integrity Family Health,
4 have you ever had an ownership interest in a
5 company with that name?
6 A. No.

7 Q. Are you familiar with a company or

8 business or operation called Integrity Family
Health?

10  A. Not off the top of myhead.

11 Q. Okay. How about Associates inOB/GYN
12 Care, LLC, are you familiar with that entity?

13 A. Iambecause I thinkit's —-is it part

14 of this case? It's-—-I'm--I'm--1--1 have

15 heard of that entity, yes.

16 Q. How have you heard of that entity?

17  A. My understanding is that's the entity
18 that had facilities in Maryland, including the one
19 thatl think -- I'mnot sure, butI think this was
20 the one that Ms. O'Connell went to.

21 Q. Haveyoueverhadanownershipinterest

22 in Associates in OB/GYN Care?

O
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A. No.
Q. Have you ever served as a resident agent
for Associates in OB/GYN Care?
A. 1 don't remember that.

OB/GYN Care?
A. No.
Q. You have noidea?
9 A. I'thinkthere's--1had heard that
10 there's a nonprofit that owns it.
11 Q. Whatisthenonprofitthatyoubelieve
12 owns it?
13 A. Idon'trememberthe name off the top of
14myheadbecauseit's defunct-- 1 mean, all this
15 stuffis defunct. Like you're asking, again,
16 you're going back years ago.
17 Q. Wheredidyouhearthat Associates in
18 OB/GYN was owned by a nonprofit?
19 A.InMaryland.
20 Q. Okay. How did you hear it?
21 A.How did I hear it?
22 Q. How did you hear that information? Who

88
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1 told you?

2 A. That's what I was told. Who told me?
3 Q. Yeah.

4 A. Dr. Walker.

5 Q. Who is Dr. Walker?
6 A. A doctor.

7 Q. Where?

8 A.InMaryland.

9 Q. What is Dr. Walker's first name?

10 A.I don'tremember.

11 Q. Male or female?

12 A. Female.

13 Q. What kind of doctor is Dr. Walker?

14 A.Whatkind?

15 Q. Yeah. What's herspecialty?

16 A.I think OB/GYN.

17 Q. Okay. And whendid you first meet

18 Dr. Walker?

19 A.Whatyear?

20 Q. Approximately.

21  A.I'm not sure. Maybe 2009, 2010.
22 Q. Okay. How did you meet Dr. Walker?
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A. How?

Q. Um-hum.

A. I don't remember.

Q. Did you meet Dr. Walker in Maryland?

A. Yes.

Q. What brought you to Maryland in 2009,
2010 that occasioned your meeting Dr. Walker?

A. I was practicing medicine.

Q. In Maryland?
10  A. Yes.
11 Q. What were you doing inMaryland,
12 practicingmedicine in the 2009/2010 time frame?
13 A. I'was--this was that whole thing where
14 Ilost my license in New Jersey, this was the whole
15 question,because I waspracticingmedicine, in

O I SN N AW N -

o

16 conjunction with another Maryland physician, Dr. --

17 what was his name --Shepard.

18 Q. What is Dr. Shepard's first name?
19 A. George.

20 Q. How do you spell Shepard?

21  A. S-h-e-p-a-r-d.

22 Q. Okay. Dr. George Shepard, is he an

90
OB/GYN?

A. Um-hum.

Q. And how did you meet Dr. Shepard?

A. I met him through Dr. Kaji.

Q. Okay. SoifI'm followingyou, Dr. Kaji
introduced you to Dr. Shepard, who was practicing
obstetrics and gynecology in Maryland, right?

A. Yes.

9 Q. AndDr. Shepard introduced youto

10 Dr. Walker?

11  A.I think that's right.

12 Q. Okay. Youbelieveat thetime-- well,

13 strike that. I'msorry.

14 Refresh my recollection, whatis

15 Dr. Walker's affiliation with Associates of OB/GYN
16 Care -- or if -- if there is one?

17 [ think you told me Dr. Walker told you

18 that Associates in OB/GYN Care was owned by a
19 nonprofit, if I got that right.

20 A.Right.

21 Q. Okay. Whatwereyou--wereyouworking
22 professionally with either Dr. Shepard or

O IO N AW —
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1 Dr. Walker?
2 A.Yes.
3 Q. How?
4  A.What do you mean how?
5 Q. In whatway?
6 A. We were working, seeing patients.
7 Q. Where were you seeing patients?
8 A.When?
9 Q. Where were you seeing patientsin
10 Maryland during the time that you met Dr. Walker
11 and Dr. Shepard?
12 A. I--let'ssee. I was seeing patients in
13 Elkton, Maryland.
14 Q. Um-hum.
15 A. AndIdon't--thatwas the only place
16thatI was seeing patients. ButI encountered
17Dr. Walker because -- through American Medical
18 Associates too.
19 Q. Whenyouwereseeingpatients in Elkton,
20 what years was that?
21  A.2009,2010.
22 Q. Andyoudidn'thavealicense to practice

92
1 medicine in Maryland at thattime, true?
2 A. True.
3 Q. Okay. How was it that you were seeing
4 patients in Elkton, Maryland, when you didn't have
5 alicense to practice medicine in Maryland?
6 A. T had a license to practice medicine in
7 NewJersey,and Maryland had a statute thatyou
8 could prac -- you could legally and lawfully
9 practice medicine in Maryland -- State of Maryland
10 withoutalicense, provided you wereengagingin
11 consultation with a Maryland licensed physician.
12 Q. Okay. Sothe Marylandphysicianthatyou
13 were providing consultation with was whom?
14  A. Dr. Shepard.
15 Q. Okay. Andwherewereyouprovidingthose
16 consultations with Dr. Shepard in Maryland?
17  A.In Elkton.
18 Q. Whatwasthe name of'the facility at
19 which you provided those consultations with
20 Dr. Shepard?
21  A. The facility?
22 Q. Yeah.
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1 A. I don't think the facility had a name.
2 Q. Did it operate under any --
3  A.There was no name on thedoor.
4 Q. Well, if a woman wanted to get services
5 atthat facility, what would she know itas? What
6 would it be called in thecommunity?
7  A.ldon'tthink it was called anything in
8 the community.
9 Q. How would women find it?
10  A. Ithink that they were -- I think that we
11 were trying to keep a low profile because we were
12 providing pregnancy terminations, so we were not
13 trying to befound.
14 Q. Okay. The facility in Elkton, this is
15 the facility where you indicated earlier, the
1 6initiation of thetermination would start in
17 New Jersey and then the woman would come to the
18 facility in Elkton later for the completion of the
19 termination, right?
20 A. Idon'tagree withthatcharacterization.
21 Q. Okay. Tellme--tellmeabetter way to
22 characterize itthen.
94

A. Theprocedures were done in Elkton.

Q. Okay. And was the facility inElkton
solely for the purpose of terminating pregnancies?
I'll stop there.

A. No.

Q. What else was -- what other services were
rendered at that facility inElkton?

A. Contraception.
9 Q. Okay. AndDr. Shepard, was he affiliated
10withany type ofbusinessor corporation, toyour
11 knowledge?
12 A.Yes.
13 Q. What was the name of thatentity?
14  A. He was chairman of obstetrics and
15 gynecology at Mercer Hospital, so Mercer Hospital.
16 Q. Hisfacility in Elkton, the one where you
17 provided consultations, pursuant to the Maryland
18lawthatallowedyouto consultwithaMaryland
19 doctor --
20  A.Yes.
21 Q. --okay, whatbusinessname ortradename
22 was that clinic operating under?

O NN AW -
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1 A. That facility, as I said before, there
2 wasnonameonthedoor. Ifyouasked me what name
3 Dr.Shepard operated under, I think it was
4 George Shepard--
5 Q. Okay.
6 A.--M.D.
7 Q. Andhow did it come to be that
8 Dr. Shepard introduced you to Dr. Walker?
9 A. How did Dr. Shepard meet Dr. Walker?
10 Q. No,didyouevermeet--well,letme
11 back up for a second.
12 Did you ever meet Dr. Walker?
13 A. Yes.
14 Q. When? Same time frame; 2009102010,
15 whenyou were coming to Maryland?
16 A. Idon'tremember whenIfirstencountered
17 Dr. Walker.
18 Q. Whatis the nature of your relationship
19 with Dr. Walker?
20 A.Doc--well,Iwasthepresidentof
21 American Medical Associates --
22 Q. Um-hum.

96

A. - P.C. American Medical Associates,
P.C. was providing physicians to Associates in
OB/GYN Care, LLC, and Dr. Walker seemed to be --
I'm not sure what her relationship was with
Associates in OB/GYN Care, LLC. She seemed to be
running it.

Q. Okay.

A. I don't--butI can't speak to --1--1
9 don'tknow for a fact what exactly her relationship
10 is with Associates.
11 Q. DidtheclinicinElkton, where yousaw
12 patients, was ityour understanding that that
13 clinic was affiliated with Associates in OB/GYN
14 Care?
15 A.Idon't know.
16 Q. Now, you said that your company, American
17 Medical Associates, provided physicians to
18 Associates in OB/GYN Care?
19 A. Yes.
20 Q. When did that relationship begin?
21 A.Ildon't remember.
22 Q. Can you give me an approximate time?

O QNN AW -
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1 Late '90s? 2000s?

A. It was not the late '90s, I don't think.
I --itwas in the 2000s sometime.

Q. Did you have a contract -- did your
company, American Medical Associates, havea
contract with Associates in OB/GYN Care?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Do you have a copy of that
9 contract?

10 A.Idon't,no.

11 Q. Youdon't know or you -- or no?

12 A.Idon't

13 Q. Okay.

14 A.We had a contract atone point.

15 Q. Okay. Where --

16 A.Butwe--

17 Q. Go ahead. Sorry.

18 A. Wewereevictedfromour officespaceand
19 during thateviction process, we lost a lot of
20papers,soldon'tknow--I1don'tknowwhereitis
21 exactly.

22 Q. When you say, we were evicted, is we,

AN AW
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1 American Medical Associates?
2 A. Yes, American Medical Associates was
3 evicted.
4 Q. Evicted from where?
5 A. Well, it was one of --  mean, the -- the
6 administrative office that we did -- that did --
7
8

evicted from 1 Alpha Avenue, Voorhees, New Jersey.

Q. Okay. Was 1 Alpha Avenue, Voorhees,
New Jersey, the main business address for American
10 Medical Associates?

11  A. I guess you could say that. I'm not
12 sure -- the main business address? I suppose.
13 Yeah, I guess you could say that.

14 Q. Well,you'veindicated thatmost ofthe
15 paperwork was keptthere.

16  A. Yes, that's right.

17 Q. Well, did you keep administrative

18 paperwork at any other business address, besides 1
19 Alpha --

20  A. That's why I said --

21 Q. Hold on.

22 A. Um-hum.

o
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Q. Besides 1 AlphaAvenue?

A. Well,let me go back. The reason I said,
Iguess youcouldsaythatwas because American
Medical Associates was providing physicians in
Maryland. So it wasn't providing physicians at
1 Alpha Avenue, butI think you asked, if it was
the --whatwas the --how did you phrase it? The
business office? What did you -- I forgot the
9 languageyouused,Isaid--that'swhyIsaid, I
10 guess you could say that.

11 Q. What--whenyouformedit, what was the
12 princi--whenyou formed it, at the timeyoudid,
13 what was the principal business address for
14 American Medical Associates?
15 A.The business address?
16 Q. Theprincipalplaceofbusiness forthat
17 company.
18 A. Well, the business address and the
19 principal place of business are two different
20 things.
21 Q. Then tellme -- tell me what was which.
22 A. Okay. I think -- and I'm not certain of

100
this, and I have to be careful because I'm under
oathandI'mbeing videotaped and everything,I'm
not -- I'm trying to be as cooperative and -- we're
going back like years ago. But as I remember, and
I think that when we formed it -- you know, I don't
remember what -- I don't remember what address was
on the papers, so I can't remember that.

Q. All right. So tell me what the principal
9 place of business was for American Medical
10 Associates.

11  A. Well, when you say, principal place of
12business,Imean, they provided physicians at
13facilitiesin Maryland. Soinasense,you might
14 say those facilities in Maryland are their, quote,
15 principal place of business. But as far as

16 administrative paperwork and that sort of stuff, it
17 would have been the 1 Alpha Avenue.

18 Q. Allright.

19  A. That's why I'm trying to -- I'm

20 struggling with answering your questions. It's not
21 straightforward.

22 Q. So when American Medical Associates,

I SNN AW~
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through you, its president and sole owner, entered
into a contract with Associates in OB/GYN Care to
provide physicians to its Maryland abortion
clinics, who did you enter into that contract with?

A. Whodid American Medical Associates enter
the contract with?
Q. Yes.
A. Associates in OB/GYN Care.
9 Q. Whatindividualpersondidyouenterinto
10 that contract with? Iunderstand it was a contract
11 between two corporations.
12 A. Right.
13 Q. Butyouwere the sole owner of American
14 Medical Associates, and I presume you had to enter
15 into negotiations and discussions with another
16 human being on behalf of Associates in OB/GYN Care.
17 I want to know who's that human being or beings.
18 A. Tothebestof my memory,itwas
19 Dr. Walker.
20 Q. Okay. Youdonotremember her first
21 name?
22 A.Il don't remember her firstname.

O 9 SN U B W~
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1 Q. What time period are we talking about

2 thatthisassociation began between your company
3 and Associates in OB/GYN Care?

4  A.Inthe2000s. I don'tremember exactly
5 which --

6 Q. Okay.

7 A. --year.

8 Q. Did there ever come a point in time in

9 your relationship -- in American Medical

10 Associates'relationship with Associates inOB/GYN
11 Care when Dr. Walker was not your primary contact
12 or person that you dealt with on behalf of

13 Associates in OB/GYN Care?

14 A. Idon't--itallfizzled out,so I don't

15 know--

16 Q. Whendid --
17 A. --Imean--
18 Q. Goahead, I'msorry. [didn'tmeanto

19 interrupt you.

20 A. Soldon'tknowhowtoanswer that
21because of the whole thing justkind of --
22 Q. When--

103
1 A. -- fizzled out and went defunct.
2 Q. When did it fizzle out and godefunct?
3 A. When -- the basic story, as I understand
4 it,is Associates in OB/GYN Care waslicensed by
5 the State of Maryland as a licensed abortion
6 clinic, and then that license was -- I don't
7 remember what exactly, but it was suspended
8 first--ultimately, it wasrevoked. And when they
9 lost theirlicense, then they had no revenue. And
10 so Assoc -- AMA had no revenue, so the whole thing
11 just fizzled out.
12 Q. When did it fizzle out?
13 A. When they lost their license. I think
14 you could look up -- I don't know what year they
15lost their licenses. I think it's public record.

16 Q. Approximately when?

17  A.Idon't know exactly whatyear.

18 Q. Within the last two years? Five years?
19  A. Whatis this--2007? It was definitely

20 after2010. Anditwasn't within thelasttwo
21 years. It'sbeen several years. I don't remember.
22 Q. Well, Ms. O'Connell was a patientin

104
1 Associates in OB/GYN Care --

A. 2012, right?

Q. So it was at least2012.

A. That's right.

Q. Okay.

A. That's right.

Q. Doyouknow, since from2012tonow,

8 2017, when--

9 A. Which exact --

10 Q. Let me finish my question, sir. When

11 your company, American Medical Associates, stopped
12 doingbusiness with Associates inOB/GYN Care?
13 A.Idon't--1 don'tremember.

14 Q. During the time that yourbusiness,

15 Associates -- American Medical Associates, did
16 business with Associates inOB/GYN Care, was there
17 ever atimethat you dealt with anyone else, other
18 than Dr. Walker on behalfof Associates in OB/GYN
19 Care?

20 A.I'msorry,wouldyousaythatquestion
21 again? During the time what?

22 Q. Your company, American Medical

~N N N AR WN
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Associates, had at least a 12-year relationship

1

2 providing physician services to an entity in

3 Maryland called Associates in OB/GYN Care --
4 A.ldidn't--

5 Q. --true?

6  A.--say it was a 12-year relationship. I
7 don't know how many years it was.

8 Q. Well, if American Medical Associates was
9 formed in2000, and we know that Ms. O'Connell
10received carein2012, weknow itwas atleasta
11 12-year relationship, true?

12 A.No.

13 Q. Okay.

14 A.I don't know that. I don't know that.
15 Q. Okay.

16 A. You'regoing--you'regoingbackway

17far. These years all blur and --

18 Q. Okay.

19 A. --I'mnotsurethatl cansay that,but

20 anyway.

21 Q. Doyouknow when your business, American
22 Medical Associates, firststarted doing business

106
providing physician services in Maryland to an
entity called Associates in OB/GYN Care?

A. No.
Q. Okay. Fortheyearsthatitdid that,
for however long it was, did you ever deal with
another human being, besides Dr. Walker, on behalf
of Associates in OB/GYN Care?
A. Did I deal with another individual? What
capacity?
10 Q. Didyouspeaktothem? Talk tothem on
11thephone? Writetothem? Correspond? Talkto
12 any other human being in terms of your
13 relationship?
14  A.I1don't remember. She was the main
15 contact. There were other people at Associates.
16 There were Dr. Panna (Phonetic) dealt with them a
17 lot too.
18 Q. Um-hum.
19 A. And I would talk to Dr. -- so, often, 1
20 would talk through intermediaries in a way because,
21 for example, Dr. Panna, I would speak to him and he
22 would talk to them. He would talk to Dr. Walker

L 3N DN bW —
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too.

1
2 Q. Okay. Tell me about the nature ofthe

3 contractthat American Medical Associates had with
4 Associates in OB/GYN Care.

5 A. American Medical Associates, P.C. agreed
6 toprovide physicians to Associates, and those

7 physicians would provide medical care for

8 Associates.

9 Q. How many physicians did American Medical
10 Associates agree to provide?

11 A. Howmanydidtheyprovide,or howmany
12 did they agree to provide?

13 Q. Whatwas-- what was the nature of the

14 contractthatyour company entered into with

15 Associates inOB/GYN?

16 A.Well, I just--

17 Q. Was there --

18 A.--answered that. We --

19 Q. Youagreedto provide physicianservices?
20 A. Right.

21 Q. Whatarethedetails? Didyouagreeona

22 number of physicians, a time period?
108
A. I'thinkitwas anas-needed. I don't
think -- I don't think we specified a certain
number and all thisstuff.
Can we take a break? I just want to

MS. MALARKEY: Yeah.
THE WITNESS: --the restroom fora

1
2
3
4
5 use--
6
7
8 second.

9 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're going offthe
10 record, the time is 11:24a.m.
11 (Recess taken.)

12 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're back on the
13 record, the time is 11:28a.m.

14 BY MS. MALARKEY:

15 Q. Okay. How is American Medical Associates
16 compensated for providing physicianservices to
17 Associates in OB/GYN Care?

18 A. Well, they're not anymore.

19 Q. Atthetimethatthatbusiness

20 relationship existed, how was American Medical

21 Associates compensated?

22 A.I'mnotsure I understand the question.
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Medical Associates provided physicianservices to
other medical clinics operating in different
states, besides Maryland?

A. No.

Q. Okay. So Maryland is the only state for
which, or the clinics in Maryland that operated
underthename, AssociatesinOB/GYN Care, arethe
only clinics that American Medical Associates

1 Whatdo you mean, how was it compensated?

Q. Howdoes AmericanMedical Associates make
money, sir?

A. From Associates in OB/GYN Care.

Q. Right. Under whatterms?

A. Under the terms of the contract.

Q. Whatweretheterms ofthe contract, sir?
8 A. Ah. Idon'tremembertheexact--the

NN O AW
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9 exact terms, you know, like the amounts of money, 9 provided physician services for?

10you're asking? What -- what are you -- 10  A. The--1thinkthat's right,whatyou

11 Q. Yes. 11 justsaid.

12 A.I don't remember thatexactly. 12 Q. Okay. Did American Medical Associates
13 Q. Okay. What were the terms? Wasit a 13 ever enter into any agreements to provide physician
14 flat rate, we will pay you X-dollars to supply as 14 services to abortion clinics in Virginia?

15 many physicians as we need? Something else? 15  A.Not that Iremember.

16 A. I--1don't remember exactly the terms. 16 Q. Did American Medical Associates ever

17 This is -- you're going back a few years. 17 enter into any agreements to provide physician

18 MR.GREANEY: Wasitonaphysicianby 18 services to any abortion clinics in New Jersey?
19 physician basis, meaning each physician you staffed 19 A.No.

20 to an Associate facility, you would be paid by 20 Q. Okay. Does American Medical Associates
21 Associates? 21 have any type of relationship, business
7 THE WITNESS: Yes, something like that. 22 relationship with any abortion clinics in Virginia?
110 112
1 Q. What do you mean, something like that? 1 A. No.
2 Tellmehow it worked. This is a company, sir, 2 Q. How about New Jersey?
3 that you owned and have -- 3 A. IthoughtI justsaid -- is that the same
4  A.Um-hum. 4 question you just asked me?
5 Q. -- owned for a long time. 5 Q. First, I asked you Virginia. Now, I'm
6 A.Um-hum. 6 asking New Jersey.
7 Q. You've provided physician services to a 7 A.I'm--
8 number of different clinics in various states, not 8 MR. GREANEY: First, she asked as to
9 just Maryland, right? 9 staffing. Now she's asking any business
10 A.I'msorry, what was thatlast question? 10 relationships.
11 Q. Okay. Your company, American Medical 11 A. Anyway--anyway, by the way, [ was -
12 Associates -- 12I'mnot supposed to testify about stuff outside of
13 A.Yes. 13 Maryland, but not that I know of.
14 Q. -- as [ understand it, had an agreement 14 MR. GREANEY: It's the same answer you
15 to provide physicians to clinics in Maryland that 15 think it is.
16 operated under thename, Associates nOB/GYNCare, |16  A. Idon'tthink--1 mean, I think that
17 true? 17it -- I think the answer's no.
18  A.Yes, I think that'sright. 18 Q. Okay. How is American Medical Associates
19 Q. Okay. Andyou--younegotiated that 19 compensated for providing physicianservices to
20 deal with Dr. Walker, whenever it was? 20 Associates in OB/GYN Care in Maryland?
21 A. Right. 21 A.How were they compensated?
22 Q. Okay. Am I also correct that American 22 Q. Yeah.
PLANET DEPOS
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A. Theywere compensated by Associates in

1
2 OB/GYN Care.

3 Q. Right. And -- and what amount of money

4 did Associates inOB/GYN Care pay to American

5 Medical Associates for that--

6 A. I don'tremember the amounts right--1

7 mean,you'regoingbackyearsago. I couldn'ttell
8 youthe--Idon'thave anyrecords tolook at, to

9 look at the payments.

10 Q. Canyou give me a range or an estimate?
11 A.I--1don't want toguess.
12 Q. Aretheretaxreturnsthatwould show

13 that information?

14 A.No.

15 Q. Did American Medical Associates file tax

16 returns?

17 A.American Medical Associates is behind on
18 its taxreturns.

19 Q. How behind?
20 A.I don'tremember.
21 Q. How manyyears?
22  A.I don'tremember.
114
1 Q. Okay. We talking more thanfive?
2 A.I'm not sure. I know we're getting
3 notices that we have to file returns, but we don't
4 have any money to file -- to hire accountants to
5 file returns, so that's a problem.
6 Q. When is the last time American Medical
7 Associates hired an accountant to complete a tax
8 return?
9 A. 1 don't remember thatoffhand.
10 Q. Doyouknow whenthelasttax year was

11 that American Medical Associates filed atax

12 return?

13 A.No.

14 Q. When American Medical -- did American
15 Medical Associates ever have an accountant who
16 filed a tax return?

17  A.I think -- I don't -- I think so.
18 Q. Who?
19 A. There was Kay -- no, what was that --

20 whatwas thataccountant'sname? There was --
21 there was an accountant, butI don't remember her
22 name.

115
1 Q. Whyis American Medical Associates behind
2 on its tax returns?
3  A.Becauseits defunct. Ithas no money and
4 ithas no ability to hire -- it has no money to pay
5 accountants to do the books and prepare tax
6 returns.
7 Q. When did American Medical Associates
8 become defunct, to use your word?
9 A. After Associates lost its license.
10 Q. Whenyou say, Associates, you mean
11 Associates in OB/GYN Care?
12 A. Yeah. That was its main source of
13 income--solesourceofincome,asfarasIcan
14 recall.
15 Q. To your knowledge--
16 A. Sotherewas nomore--they had no more
17license, so they had no more income, so the whole
18 thing kind of just fizzled out, like I said.
19 Q. Does American--did American Medical
20 Associates ever have any other source of income,
21 besides its contract with Associates in OB/GYN
22 Care?
116

A. Not that Iremember.

Q. Okay. So before Associatesin OB/GYN
Care entered into this contract with American
Medical Associates, how did American Medical
Associates earn money?

A.I don't remember. I don't think it did.

Q. You don't think American Medical
Associates earned money from the time that it was
9 formed in 2000 until the time that it entered into
10 a contract --

R AN AW -

11 A. You know, I don'tremember.

12 Q. -- with -- wait. Wait.

13 A. Okay.

14 Q. With American -- I'm sorry, Associates in

15 OB/GYN Carein Maryland?

16 A. Areyou telling me American Medical
17 Associates was formedin the year 2000?

18 Q. Ibelieveso. Icould be wrong on that,

19 but I believe--

20 A.Okay.I--1--so I, as we sit here, so
211 want to be careful, because, again, I'm under
22 oath. I don't remember -- be -- before -- before
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Associates-- I'm not sure. You know, nowyou're
going back ten years, I mean, you know, a long

Itlooks like you have the documents, you can tell
me.

Q. These documents maybe aren't correct, but
I have Pennsylvania State Articles of Incorporation
for American Medical Services, P.C. in Allentown,
9 Pennsylvania, which was changeda couple months
10later, the name to American Medical Associates,
11 P.C. That's your company, right?
12 A. I think so --
13 Q. Okay.
14 A. --thewayyoudescribedit. I'm not
15 sure, but --
16 Q. Allright.
17 A. I'mnotsurewhatyou'relooking at,so I
18 want to be careful -- I didn't see those.
19 Q. I'll show you, sir. I just handed you --
20 and we can mark this as an exhibit. We'llmark
21thatas Exhibit 1 A and thisis Exhibit 1B, Articles
22 of Incorporationand anamendment changing the

O I SN N AW N -
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name.

(Brigham Exhibits 1A and 1B were marked
for identification and are attached to the
transcript.)

A. Okay.

Q. I'mean, the documents say what they say,
but do you have any reason to dispute that you
formed your company, American Medical Services, and
9 then changedits name to American Medical
10 Associates in the year2000?

11 A.No. I don't have any -- and these

12 documents are a little bit helping to reflect-- or
13 refresh my memory.

14 Q. Allright. So starting in 2000, when

15 yourcompany, American Medical Associates, was
16 formed, how did it earnmoney?

17 A. I do not remember offhand what it was
18doinginthose--theearlyyears. It wasformed
19 asaPennsylvaniacompany. Idon't--Idon't
20 remember what it was doing, if anything. I don't
21knowifitwasdoing anythingin the earlyyears.
22 Q. To your knowledge and recollection, did

O 3 ON bW~

time, [ don't remember what happened, to be honest.

119
1 American Medical Associates ever have any source of
2 income, when it was a functional corporation from
3 2000untilwheneveritbecame defunct, besides its
4 contract with Associates in OB/GYN Care?
5  A.Idon'trememberwhatitdidinthe
6 early--I'mnotsureifitdidanything. Idon't
7 knowifithad any other sources ofincome. I just
8 simplydon'tremember. I know thatits last thing
9 thatitdid was provide the physicians to
10 Associates and that that-- it wasn't doing
11 anything else, and that that relationship fizzled
12 outanditwentdefunct,and thatwas theend of
13it.
14 Q. So, sitting here today in 2017, besides
15 its contract with Associates in OB/GYN Care, can
16 youthink of any other ways, inthe last 17 years,
17 thatyour company, American Medical Associates, has
18 earned money?
19 A.I don't have a specific memory. I'm
20wondering, as I'msitting here, sinceitwas
21 form--I'mtrying -- since you showed me the
22 documents, so it helped to refresh my memory that
120
1 itwas pro--sinceitwas formedin Pennsylvania,
2 Idon'tremember if it ever did business in
3 Pennsylvania. I just--I'msorry, I don't--1
4 don't--1don'twantto guess, so I don'tknow.
5 Q. Okay. Let me ask the question again. My
6 question is, from 2000, when it was formed --
7  A.Um-hum.
8 Q. -- until today, 2017 --
9 A.Um-hum.
10 Q. --canyouthinkofany waythat American
11 Medical Associates earned income, besides its
12 contract with Associates in OB/GYN Care in
13 Maryland?
14 A. Canlimagineaway, or doyouwantme
15 to--
16 Q. No,sir.
17  A. Idon'thavea specific memory,sol
18 don'trecall any specific thing.
19 Q. You've owned a company for 17 years and
20youdon'tknow any oftheways inwhichits earned
21 income?
22 A.I know how it earned income in the last
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few years before it went defunct. In the early

years, [ don't remember if it did anything at all.

Q. Okay. Howdidyouearnincomebefore
your company entered into a contract with
Associates inOB/GYN Care inMaryland?

A. Well, that's a long time frame, before it
entered --  mean, from the day I was born until
the time -- I mean, I did a lot of different
things.

10 Q. I think we started this conversation a

11 while ago by me asking you about your employment

12 history, so maybe we should go back to that

13 question. So we talked for a while about your

14 working as an emergency room physician in hospitals

15 inand around the New Y ork City and New Y ork State

16 area.

17  A.Yes.

18 Q. Until, I believe you said, the mid '90s.

19Ithinkyoutold methatatsome pointduringthe

20early'90s, therewas overlap inyour OB/GYNand

21 pregnancy termination services work and your work

22 withPlanned Parenthood, and that continued until
122

1 themid '90s, I think you told me, meaning the

2 overlap, right?

3 A.I'm sorry, what--

Q. Okay.

A. -- was the overlap?

Q. I'm just trying to shorten this a little
bit.

A. Okay.

9 Q. So I'm going to -- I'm going to tell you

10 what [ understand about your employment history to
11 date and then we'll pick up where I leave off and
12 you tell me if I'm wrong. Okay.

13 As T'understand it, after you finished

14 your internship through the New Y ork Medical

15 College, for several years inthe late'80s and

16 early '90s, you worked as an emergency department
17 physician, as a hospital physician, as you've

18 described, for hospitals such as West Point. You
19also were working for Planned Parenthood and
20 providing obstetrics and gynecology services and
21 pregnancy termination services at the same time,

22 right? Talking late '80s, early '90s.
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1 A. Right. That's all true.
2 Q. Okay. Then you told me, I believe, that
3 atsome pointinthe mid '90s, your professional
4 careertransitioned away from emergency medicine
5 andintosolely providing pregnancy termination and
6 gynecologic services; is that right?
7 A. Yeah. Not just -- not just --yeah,
8 gynecological services, family planning services,
9 that sort ofstuff, right.
10 Q. Okay. SowhatI'd liketo do now is pick
11 up where we left off at that time period.
12 A. Okay.
13 Q. Inapproximatelythemid'90s, whenyour
14 career shifted from a mix of emergency medicine,
15 family planning to all family planning.
16 A. Okay.
17 Q. Allright. Tellme who employed youand
18 for how long.
19 A. Okay. Whoemployed--well,1told you
20someofthepeoplethatemployed mealready.
21 What--whatyear areweinnow? Areyoutrying
22 to--
124
Q. I would like to start with thetime
period when your practice of medicine became
exclusively family planning, pregnancy termination
services, whenever that was.
A. Okay. All right. So go ahead.
Q. I'd just like to know who you worked for
and for how long you worked for each of them.
A. Well, I --1 worked as an independent
9 contractor, so I was basically practicing medicine
10in my own name as a physician.
11 Q. Okay.
12 A.So in a way, I was self-employed.
13 Q. Okay. Forwhomdid youwork as an
14 independent contractor?
15 A.Oh. You want to know all the different
16 names of all the different places that I worked as
17 an independent contractor?
18 Q. Yes,sir.
19 A.Idon'trememberthemall. I'msorry.
20 Q. Who --what--tellmeallthe ones you
21 remember.
22 A. Okay. There may--1 maybeleaving some
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out.

Q. Okay.

A. But I'll tell you the ones I can
remember. [ told you Planned Parenthood. Itold
you -- what's it called, All Women's Medical
Pavilion. There was All Women's Health in --
they're different than All Women's Medical
Pavilion. There was Flushing Gynecology Center.
9 There was Harrisburg Reproductive Health Services.
10 There was Eve's Surgical Center.
11 Q. WhereisEve's Surgical Center? What
12 state?
13 A. California.
14 Q. Okay. Isthat when youwere working for
15 Dr. McMahon?
16 A. Yeah.
17 Q. Okay.
18 A. Oh,I'mforgetting some. Those arethe
19 ones I rememberoffhand.
20 Q. Okay. Andforhowlongdidyouworkas
21 anindependent contractor for another entity?
22  A. Until my license was revoked.

O I SN N AW N -
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1 Q. Okay. In'94?
2 A. Untilmylicense was suspended, rather,
3 in--thisis 2000 --2000 -- wait a minute --
4 2010. Yeah, 2010. Yeah, 2010.
5 Q. So where were you providing pregnancy
6 terminationservices, leadingup to the suspension
7 of your license in2010?
8 A. Where?
9 Q. What state?
10  A.Oh. Where was 1 practicing?
11 Q. Yes.
12 A. What states was I practicingin?
13 Q. Yes.
14  A.Primarily, New Jersey.
15 Q. Okay. What -- any otherstates?
16 A. A little bit in Maryland --
17 Q. Okay.
18 A.-- we talked about that.
19 Q. For whom were you providing pregnancy
20 termination services or family planning services in
21 New Jersey from 2000 to 2010?
22 A. American Medical Associates, P.C. Also,

127
I worked a little bit with Planned Parenthood in

1

2 Trenton. InNewJersey? Alternativesin Atlantic

3 City. I'mforgetting some of them, I know. I

4 don't remember all of them.

5 Q. So American Medical Services is your own

6 company, right?

7 A. Thatwas my professional corporation--

8 Q. Okay.

9 A. --yes.

10 Q. Did American Medical Services have

11 clinics where women could go for gynecologic or

12 pregnancy termination services ever?

13  A. AmericanMedical Services had--was the

14 practicing -- when you say -- what do you mean by

15 the words, did it have clinics?

16 Q. Did it either own office space or lease

17 office space where women could go to obtain those

18 services?

19 A.No.

20 Q. Okay. Howdid youcometo work -- well,

21 I'm sorry, strikethat.

22 Y ousaid you worked for American Medical
128

1 Services, P.C., correct?

2  A.I was anindependent contractor.

3 Q. Butyou were the sole owner of American

4 Medical Services, P.C., true?

5 A. I think so.

6 Q. Okay. So whenyouwere working for

7 American Medical Services, you were, essentially,

8 working for yourself?

9 A.Sortof.

10 Q. Did American Medical Services ever enter

11 into any lease?

12 A. Lease?

13 Q. Yeah.

14  A.For office? For what? Lease for what?

15 Q. For professional space.

16 A.No.

17 Q. So when you were working for American

18 Medical Services, your own company, where were you

19 seeing patients?

20 A.In NewJersey.

21 Q. Where?

22  A. What cities?

PLANET DEPOS
888.433.3767 | WWW.PLANETDEPOS.COM



http://www.planetdepos.com/

Case 1:14-cv-01339-CCB Document 109-3 Filed 03/15/18 Page 34 of 101

Transcript of Steven C. Brigham, M.D.

33 (129 to 132)

Conducted on October 31, 2017

129

Q. Yeah.

A. Well, Toms River was one. Paramus.I
mean, [ don't remember all the places.

Q. And were providing services through
another entity or justyourself?

A. I'was practicing as a physician when I --
you asked me -- you talking about when I was
practicing? When I was personally practicing,
seeing patients?

10 Q. Right. We're talking about thetime

11 periodof2000t0 2010, beforeyourlicense was

12 suspended in New Jersey. [ asked who you were

13 working for. Youtold me American Medical

14 Services, P.C., Planned Parenthood and

15 Alternatives.

16 Can you think of any others?

17  A. I'thinkI told you thatI -- I thoughtI

18 was forgetting some, but those are the ones that
19came to my mind.

20 Q. Okay. So when you were seeing patients
21 asanemployee of American Medical Services, which
22 isacompany that you were the sole owner, where

130
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did you see those patients, at what clinics?

A. 1 told you a couple. I mentioned Toms
River. I'd mentioned Para -- I mean, you're asking
the city.

Q. Well, and if T were a patient who showed
up to your clinic in Toms River, what would be on
thedoor? Would itbe American Medical Services,
P.C., or something else?

9 A Ithinkit was American Medical Services
10P.C., I think. Idon'tremember. It mighthave
11 been -- there was American Health. It might have

O 1 ON N AW —

12 been American Health.

13 Q. Who owns American Health?

14 A.Not me.

15 Q. Okay. Sohowdiditcometo be thatyou

16 would see patients in Toms Riverata clinic that

17 had American Medical Services on the door?

18 A. How did it come to be?

19 Q. Yeah. Wasthatoffice spacethatyou

20 leased or that American Medical Services leased?
21 A. American Medical Services, P.C. did not
22 lease that space, nor did I.

131

1 Q. Okay. Who did?

2 A. To the best ofmy knowledge, it was

3 leased by American Health or American Health--I
4 think it was American Health. I'm not sure.

5 Q. Do you --

6 A.Idon't remember. I don't -- you know, I

7 don't want to guess, speculate.

8 Q. Did you ever have any ownership interest

9 in American Health?

10  A. No.

11 Q. Okay. How did you come to forma

12 relationship with American Health, whereby you saw

13 patients in clinics that itleased?

14  A. Through--whatyear is this wetalking

15 about?

16 Q. Iwasfocusingonthe2000to2010time

17 frame which is --

18  A. Well, that's a ten-year period. I

19 believe that was through American Medical Services.
20 Q. So American Medical Services, a company

21 that you are the sole owner of, entered into an

22 agreement with American Health, whereby you would

132
provide services to women in clinics that American

1
2 Health leased?

3  A. Well, that's a long sentence. First of

4 all, these weren'tlicensed clinics. So I'mnot

5 surelwould call themclinics. Alternatives was a
6 licensed clinic.

7 Q. Okay.

8 A. ButI was -- as a practicing physician,

9 you're asking me about, as a practicing physician,

10how I practiced?
11 Q. Yes.
12 A. SoIwas anindependent contractor with

13 American Medical Services.

14 Q. Youwere an independent contractor with

15 your own company?

16 A.Yes.

17 Q. Okay. And who did your owncompany,
18 American Medical Services, have an agreement with?
19 How did you come to use oftfice space owned by
20 another company or leased by another company, I
21 should say?

22 A.Oh. American Medical Services wasa
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subtenant of American Health.

Q. Okay. So American Health leased space
that American Medical Services subleased and you,
as the owner of American Medical Services,
contracted withyou, Steven C. Brigham, M.D., to
provide medical care to women at that facility?

A. Well, that's a, sort of tortured view of
it. If, Imean, American Medical Services, P.C.--
9 solwasoneofseveral doctors that American
10 Medical Services, P.C. contracted with. So when I
11 was practicing, as a practicing physician, I would
12getpaidas a 1099 inthe exact same way as all the
13 otherdoctors.
14 Q. Okay.
15 A. Sowhatyou'reasking meis, whenI'm
16 practicing, that's what I did.

O 1S U A W N =

17 Q. Okay. So in terms of earning income --
18 A. Right.
19 Q. -- in the late -- mid to late2000s,

20 leadingup to New Jersey suspending your license,
21 the way that you, Steven Brigham, earned income was
22 by working as an independent contractor for

134

American Medical Services, your company, which had
a sublease from American Health, which leased
office space, true?

A. That is -- that is partly true --

Q. Okay.

A. --yes.

Q. Now, how did American Medical Services
earn money?
9 A. American Medical Services. American
10 Medical Services P.C., earned money -- | mean, what
11 was their source ofincome?

O SN DN AW~

12 Q. Yes, sir.
13 A. Fees from patients.
14 Q. Okay. Did American Medical Associates

15 ever earn money by receivingmoney from patients?
16 A. Notthatl--Idon't--1don't think --

17 I'mnotsure. Idon'tremember. Idon'tthink so,
18 but I'm not sure about that because I don't

19 remember what happened way back in the early
20 history.

21 Q. DidStevenC.Brigham,M.D.earnincome
22inany way from, let's say, the year 2000 tonow --

135

1 A. Right.

2 Q. -- besides from American Medical

3 Services, P.C.?

4 A. Well, American Medical Services, at one
5 pointin the time -- because you're -- you have a
6 longtime frame--atone pointin time, American
7 Medical Services, P.C. stopped thatrelationship
8 with American Health.

9 Q. Okay.

10  A. And there was another entity, American

11 Healthcare Services, P.C. So I don't remember when
12 exactly, when that came about. It--itcame about
13 when these -- there's two other doctors that came
14in and wanted to join American Healthcare Services,
15 P.C. And so -- so then I would getincome as a

16 practicing physician for American Healthcare

17 Services, P.C.

18 Q. Wereyouapartownerof American

19 Healthcare Services, P.C.?

20 A.WaslIapartowner?
21 Q. Yeah.
22 A.Yes.

136
1 Q. So you were not a part owner of American
2 Health, but you were a part owner of American
3 Healthcare Services, P.C.?
4 A. Yes.
5 Q. Allright. So do you know when American
6 Healthcare Services, P.C.was formed?
7 A. I don'tremember.
8 Q. Okay. So ifawoman showed up to one of
9 the New Jersey clinics and paid a fee for her
10 medical service in this 2000s' time period, to whom
11 would the payment go?
12 A. Thatdepended on which year it was.
13 Q. Okay. So if it was -- before American
14 Healthcare Services, P.C. came into fruition, then
15 who would it be?
16 A.Ibelieveitwouldhavebeen American
17 MedicalServices.
18 Q. Okay. And if it was afterthe
19 formulationof American Healthcare Services, then
20woulditbe to American Healthcare Services?
21 A.I believe so. I -- you know, it'sall
22 blurring together, so I don't--don't hold me to
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this because I'm not--

Q. I'm sure.

A. I'mtryingtobeas cooperative,but
it's -- and you're taking a period of ten years.

Q. So other than American Medical Services,
P.C. and American Healthcare Services, P.C., since
the year 2000, are there any other ways that you,
Steven C. Brigham, earn income, or have earned
income?

10  A. Since the year 2000?

11 Q. Yes, sir.

12 A.Well,in2000,mylicense was suspended,
13 so I can't practice anymore.

14 Q. In2000?

15 A. Oh,I'msorry. 2010. I'mgetting the
16 years--

17 Q. Okay.

18 A. --mixedup. Oh,intheyear2000

19 from-- I'msorry, repeat the question again.
20 Q. Okay.

21 A.From 2000--

22 Q. Let's go backwards for a second. Your
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license was suspended in2010.

1

2 A. Correct.

3 Q. Okay. By the State of New Jersey, before
4 it was revoked later, correct?

5 A. That's right.

6 Q. Okay. Did Steven C. Brigham earn any
7 income from the year 2000 to the present?

8  A.2000 to the present? That's --

9 Q. I'msorry.

10 A. --al7-year--

11 Q. I'msorry. 2010to thepresent. From
12 the time yourlicense --

13 A.2010 --

14 Q. Holdon. Letmestart witha fresh

15 question, it will make it better.

16 From 2010, when your license was

17 suspended by the State of New Jersey, until the
18 present, has Steven C. Brigham earned income
19from--by providingprofessional services --
20 A.No.

21 Q. -- as adoctor?

22  A.No.

139
1 Q. Okay.
2 A. I can't. I mean, I'm not -- I'm not
3 licensed. I'mnotpractice -1 have notpracticed
4 medicine. I haven't earned income.
5 Q. Okay. From 2010, when Steven Brigham's
6 license was suspended in New Jersey, until the
7 present,has AmericanMedical Services, P.C. earned
8 any income?
9 A. Idon't--no,Idon'tthinkso, butI'm
10 notsure.
11 Q. From 2010 until the present, has American
12 Healthcare Services, P.C. earned any income that
13 you have shared in as a part owner?
14 A. Fromwhatyeartowhatyear? What--
15 what--
16 Q. 2000--we'restillon2010,whenyour
17 license from New Jersey was suspended.
18 A. ThatI'vesharedinas an owner? No.
19 Q. From 2010 until the present, has American
20Medical Associates, P.C. earned any income?
21 A.Have they earned anyincome?
22 Q. Yes,sir.
140
A. Yes.
Q. Okay. From its contract with Associates
in OB/GYN Care?
A. From2010?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. Yes.
7 Q. Any other sources that American Medical
8 Associates has earned income through from2010to
9 thepresent, besides thecontract with Associates
10 in OB/GYN Care?
11 A.Not that I remember, no.
12 Q. Okay. So from2010to thepresent, itis
13 fairto say that you, Dr. Brigham, have earned
14 income through your ownership in American Medical
15 Services and American Healthcare Services?
16 A.Not true.
17 Q. Okay. Correct me.
18 A.I didn't get any income.
19 Q. The companies received income, correct?
20 A. Right.
21 Q. Youarethesoleownerof American
22 Medical Associates, correct?
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1 A. Yes.
2 Q. You'rethesole owner of American Medical
3 Services, correct?
4  A. American Medical Services?
5 Q. Yes.
6 A. Yes, I was the sole owner, but I think
7 it--that's been defunct for a while. Okay. I
8 don'tknow whetherin2000--1thinkitmayhave
9 been defunctin2010, I'mnot sure. But, anyway,
10 go ahead.
11 Q. Whoaretheotherowners of American
12 Healthcare Services?
13  A. American Healthcare Services is owned
14by--Thaveno ownershipstakein American
15 HealthcareServices.
16 Actually,I'mnotsupposed toanswer
17 questions -- I'm not going to answer questions
18 about ownership in New Jersey. This is that whole
19 thing with my attorney.
20 Q.So--
21 A. Butldon't--1have no--1I personally
22 have no ownership in any professional corporation
142
in New Jersey.

Q. Butyou used to have partial ownership in
American Healthcare Services, right?

A. I'm sorry, what did you say?

Q. I thought you told me previously that
American Healthcare Services, P.C., you were a part
owner in?

MR. GREANEY: You can speak to that
because you already did testify to that --
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10 A.Yes--

11 MR. GREANEY: -- prior.

12 A.--Iwas.

13 Q. Whowerethe other partowners ofthat

14 company?

15 A.Iam going to decline to answer more

16 questions about American Healthcare Services under
17 the advice of my -- the New Jersey counsel.

18 MS. MALARKEY: Can we mark that as an
19 exhibit?

20 MR. GREANEY: Sure.

21 MS. MALARKEY: So let's just take a break

22 for a minute and markthese.

143
1 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Doyouwantto gooff
2 the record?
3 MS. MALARKEY: Just for amoment.
4 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're goingoffthe
5 record, the time is 12:03 p.m.
6 (Brigham Exhibit 2 was marked for
7 identification and is attached to the transcript.)
8 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Weare back onthe
9 record, the timeis 12:07 p.m.
10 BY MS. MALARKEY:
11 Q. Okay. Dr. Brigham, I think I asked you,
12who--who werethe otherowners of American
13 Healthcare Services, P.C.
14  A. And Isaid thatI've been advised by my
15 New Jersey counsel not to answer questions outside
16 of the State of Maryland.
17 Q. Right. And I don't think, respectfully,
18 that that question deals with a matter outside of
19the State of Maryland. Iasked youwho sharesin
20 anownershipinacompany thatyoupartly own.
21  A. Right. But it -- this is a -- this is a
22 NewJersey company that'snot--that's completely

144
1 outside of Maryland.

2 Q. Okay. So you're not -- you're not going

3 totellme, sitting here today, who co-owns a

4 company with you?

5 A.Well, I don't own American Healthcare
6 Services --

7 Q. Okay.

8 A.--P.C.

9 Q. At the time that you did have an

10 ownershipinterestin American Healthcare Services,
11 willyou share withme the other individuals that

12 also owned that company withyou?

13 A. There -- I should answer this?

14 There were two other doctors that for --
15 and it changed over time. So, you know, it wasn't
16 onething atone time, butthere weretwodoctors
17 who became part owners or entered into a

18 relation -- ownership relationship with me in
19 American Healthcare Services, P.C. atsome pointin
20 time. And I don't--1can't tell you the dates.
21 I don't remember exactly all of those.

22 Q. Right. Sir, my question was what are
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their names?

1
2 A. One is Dr. Leiblich.
3 Q. Howdo youspellthat,ifyouknow?
4  A. L-i-e-b-l-i-c-h, something like that.
5 And Dr. Gelfand.
6 Q. How do you spell Dr. Gelfand's name?
7  A.G-e]-f-a-n-d.
8 Q. What is Dr. Leiblich's first name?
9 A.Idon'tremember.
10 Q. How about Dr. Gelfand?
11  A.Tony.
12 Q. Sointerms of your work history -- and
13 I'm again focusing on the years 2000, when you
14 formed American Medical Associates, and 2010 when
15 your license was revoked by New Jersey -- I'm
16sorry,suspended by the Stateof New Jersey, can
17 yourecall any other ways in which you worked, or
18 wereemployed, besides being an independent
19 contractor for your own company, American Medical
20Services; Planned Parenthood and Alternatives in
21 Atlantic City?
22 A.I'm -- there may have been. You're
146
1 talking about a ten-year period. I just--1
2 can't--1don't want to --
3 Q. Okay.
4  A.--speculate. I can't remember.
5 Q. And were you employed in any capacity
6 from 2010, when your license was suspended in
7 New Jersey, to the present?
8 A. As a physician, no.
9 Q. In any otherway?
10 A.Oh, I did not receive -- I have not
11received any other compensation thatI can
12 remember.
13 Q. Haveyou worked as adoctor since 2010?
14 A.No.
15 Q. Haveyouprovided any patient care since
1620107
17 A.No. I didn't have a license.
18 Q. Haveyouoperated American Medical
19 Associates since 2010?

147
1 operating.
2 Q. Okay.
3 A. Butldidn'tgain any money fromit.
4 Q. Okay. So what--whathaveyou done
5 professionally to occupy your time since your
6 license was suspended by New Jersey in2010?
7 You'verun American Medical Associates, P.C.,
8 correct?
9 A. Yes.
10 Q. Okay.

11 A. Diddo thatfora while,butthen that
12wentdefunct. Thisissince2010,yousaid?
13 Q. Correct.

14 A. Well,Ispenta lot of time with

15 attorneys.

16 Q. I'd like to know what you'vedone

17 professionally with your time, ifanything, other
18 than running your company, American Medical
19 Associates, P.C., since 2010?

20 A.I'm answering you. I consider --
21 Q. Okay.

22 A.Iconsider pro--Iconsider defending my

148
license something I've been doing professionally
with my time.

Q. Fair enough.

A. Went through a hearing and a lot of stuff
forthat. Iworked on American Medical Associates.
I'worked -- 1 don't remember. Other things. I
took some continuing education courses. I helped
Dr. Kaji in New Jersey a little bit.

9 Q. Whatdoyoumean, youhelped Dr. Kajiin
10 New Jersey a little bit?

11  A. Well, again, I don't -- actually, I don't
12 want to -- because I've been advised not to discuss
13 NewJersey, I'm not going to comment on that.
14 Q. What--whenyousay, youhelped him,

15 though, in what capacity did you help him?

16 A. Notasaphysician. Idid not practice

17 medicine.

18 Q. Okay. Has American Medical Services,

19 P.C. -- well, sorry, strikethat.

O QNN AW -

20 A.Yes. 20 Is American Medical Services, P.C. still
21 Q. Okay. 21 a functional corporation?
22  A. American Medical Associates was 22 A.No.
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Q. When did it become defunct?
A.I don't remember, but years ago. May
havebeenbefore2010. I thinkit was before2010.
Q. I'mssorry, I -- Iinterrupted your answer
with Dr. Kaji. You were telling me the -- the ways
inwhich you've occupied your professional time
since 2010. I don't know if you ever finished your
answer.
9  A. Itoldyouthethings thatl could
10 remember. There may be--
11 Q. Okay.
12 A. --other things thatI--I mean,it'sa
13 seven-year period of time.
14 Q. Um-hum. Does American Medical
15 Associates, or did it ever conduct business at

O 1NN AW —

16 157 South Main Street in Phillipsburg, New Jersey?
17 A.No.
18 Q. Haveyoueverseenpatients atthat
19 address?
20 A.Ever?
21 Q. Yes.
22 A. Yes.
150
1 Q. When?
2 A. When?
3 Q. Yes.
4  A.Oh,gosh. When I waslicensed.
5 Q. Okay. And that address, the onein
6 Phillipsburg, New Jersey, 157 South Main Street, is
7 that the address of a medical clinic?
8 A.No.
9 Q. What is -- is it a residentialaddress?
10  A. I'thinkthere's an office there.
11 Q. Okay. What--office of whom?
12 A. Well, again, I'm not supposed to testify

13 outside of Maryland. You're asking me stuff about
14New Jersey, so I'm going to decline to answer.

15 Q. Okay. Respectfully, sir,youhavesigned
16anaffidavitalready inthis case speakingabout

17 that address --

18 A. Okay.

19 Q. -- and your affiliation with it. So--

20 A. WhatdidIsay? WhateverIsaid was

21 true.

22 MR.GREANEY: Canhereview the affidavit

151
1 to refresh his memory?
2 MS.MALARKEY: Yeah. We can have this
3 marked as Exhibit 3 when we take a break.
4  A. All right.
5 Q. I'm looking at Paragraph 9.
6  A.Paragraph 9. It says --yeah.
7 Q. Okay.
8  A.Right.
9 Q. Areyou familiarwiththe 157 South Main
10 Street address that's listed in Paragraph Number 9?

11 A. Letme--excuseme,I'mjustreading the
12 paragraph.

13 Q. Um-hum.

14 (Brigham Exhibit 3 was marked for

15 identification and is attached to the transcript.)
16 A.Yeah, Paragraph 9 is true.
17 Q. Right. I'm not asking you if that
18 paragraphistrue, sir. I'mjustaskingyou if
19 you're familiar with what exists at the 157 South
20 Main Street, Phillipsburg, New Jersey, address.
21 Are you familiar with that address?
22 A. Yes.
152
1 Q. Have you seen patients there?
2 A.Not formany years.
3 Q. Okay. You used to? Did you usedto?
4 A. Oh, years ago, yes.
5 Q. All right. And when you saw patients
6 years ago in Phillipsburg, New Jersey, what was the
7 name of the clinic or the business that you were
8 seeing patients at?
9  A. Iwasseeing patients--well, it
10changed. Whichyear doyoumean?
11 Q. Anyofthem. Ifitchanged, youcantell
12 me itchanged.
13  A. Well,again,youknow,youkeep asking me
14 about New Jersey. I'm going to respectfully
15 decline to discuss New Jersey.
16 Q. Sir,I'maskingyouaboutyourwork
17 history. Okay.

18 A. Okay.
19 Q. Ifyousaw--
20 A. Isawpatientsin--at 157 SouthMain

21Street,whenIwaslicensed. Not--Ihaven't
22 done--
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1 Q. Okay.
2 A. Thaven'tseen themin almost a decade.
3 Q. Right. And whatI'd liketo know s,
4 when you were seeing patients at that address --
5 A. On behalf ofwho?
6 Q. Yes.
7 A. Atthe end, it was on behalf of American
8 Healthcare Services, P.C.
9 Q. Okay. How about this -- stillin
10 Paragraph 9, 324 Fort Duquesne Boulevard in
11 Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, is that a residential or
12 a business address?
13  A.That is a business address.
14 Q. Okay. Haveyoueverseenpatients at
15 that business address?
16 A.No.
17 Q. Whatbusinessislocated atthataddress,
18 just AMA?
19 A. Idon'tknowthatanybusinessislocated
20 therenow.
21 Q. Doyouhaveany ownership interestin
22 that Pittsburgh property?

154

1 A. No.
2 Q. Have you ever had an ownership interest
3 inthat Pittsburgh property?
4 A. No.
5 Q. Whydidyou, when you formed AMA in 2000,
6 list324 Fort Duquesne Boulevard, Number 320,
7 Pittsburgh, as its corporate office?
8 A.Why? Because we -- we - so we wouldn't
9 have to pay a -- what do you call it -- a -- it
10 was-- that was the -- I think that was the office
11andIdon'tremember--would you repeat the
12 question? Ithinkitwasthe office for service of
13 process, wasn'tit? No, itwas Hamilton. Idon't

14 remember offhand. I couldn't answer your question.

15 Q. Well, you say in Paragraph 9, AMA's
16 corporate office was located -- and you give the
17 Fort Duquesne Boulevard address.

18  A. Right.
19 Q. Do you see that?
20 A. Yeah.

21 Q. Okay. Wasthereanactual office located
22 at that address for your company?

155
A. There was an office for AMA's business

affairs.

Q. Okay. And why did you choose that
address for AMA's business affairs?

A. Because we needed a -- AMA was a
Pennsylvania entity.

Q. Um-hum. Who is we? Youkeep saying, we
needed, we needed. Who's we?

A. 1 guess I meant me. I don'tknow.
10 Q. Okay.
11  A. AMA--AMA -- AM --I'mthinking aboutit
12 in terms of the entity.
13 Q. Okay. Butyou'vetold methatyoudidn't
14ownthatproperty, so I'm--I'mcurious as to what
15 connection did you have with this property that led
16 youto chooseitas the corporate office for your
17 company.
18 A. AMA--whydid AMA choosetouse
19 Fort Duquesne as its corporate office --
20 Q. Sure.
21 A. --toreceive mailand thatsortof
22 stuff?

O AN N AW -
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Q. Yeah.
A. AMAwanted alocation where -- that was
inPennsylvania. WeneededaPennsylvaniaaddress.
Q. Butwhatconnection did AMAhave with
this specific address on Fort Duquesne Boulevard,
which you did not own?
A. Oh. AMA had an office there.
Q. So did AMA lease that property?
A. AMA leasedan office there.
10 Q. Did AMA ever lease an office on
11 Toll House Avenue in Frederick, Maryland?
12 A. AMAprovided doctors to Associates in
13 OB/GYN Care at the Toll House, Frederick, Maryland,
14 address.
15 Q. Okay. Listentomyquestion. Did AMA
16 everlease office space on Toll House Avenuein
17 Frederick, Maryland?
18 A.Idon'tthinkthey signed alease.
19 Q. Did AmericanMedical Serviceseverlease
20 property on Toll House Avenuein Frederick,
21 Maryland?
22 A. No.

0O 3O L AW N~
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Q. Did any other corporation with -- in
which youhave any ownership interest whatsoever
lease property on Toll House Avenue in Frederick,
Maryland?

A. No, not that I remember.

Q. Okay. I'm going to ask thesame
questions about some otheraddresses so thatwecan
be efficient.

A. Okay.
10 Q. Okay. I'd like to know for 3506 North
11 Calvert Street in Baltimore City, Maryland, whether
12 AMA, AMS, American Medical Services; or any other
13 company thatyouhave everowned or partly owned
14 has ever entered into a lease for space at that
15 address.
16 A.Not that I remember, no.
17 Q. Didyouever,oranyofyourcompanies,
18 AMA or American Medical Services, or any other
19company everpurchasepropertyat3506 North
20 Calvert Street in Baltimore City?
21 A. A--no,notthatl canremember. AMA
22 did not purchase -- AMS, first of all, had nothing

158
1 todowithMaryland. And AMAdid notpurchase any

2 propertyat--whatwas thataddress, North Calvert
3 Street?

Q. Yes,sir.

A. Yes.

Q. Did AMA ever purchase anyreal property?
A. No.

8 Q. Did AMA ever enter into any lease for

9 real property?

10 A.Idon't think so.

11  Q.Did AMA--

12 A.Idon't-- I mean--

13 Q. Sorry?

14  A.--youknow,it'sal7-year history. I

15 don'tremember,butIdon't thinkso.

16 Q. Did AMA, AMS or any other company that

17 youhave owned or partly owned ever buy or enter

18 intoalease forspaceat6005 LandoverRoadin

19 Cheverly, Maryland?

20 A. Well, that's AM -- first of all, let's

21 breakthatdown. AMSdidn'tever have anything to
22 dowith anythingin Maryland, so I've covered that.

03 ON W B W
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AMA also did notever lease any property

1
2 thatl canremember that--1don'tthinkit's ever
3 leased any property anywhere.
4 Q. Okay.
5  A.ThatI canthink of.
6 Q. Has any company that you have ever had an
7 ownership interestinleased properly -- property
8 inCheverly, Maryland, or purchased property in
9 Cheverly, Maryland?
10 A.I don't think so,no.
11 Q. Okay. HasAMA, AMS orany other company
12 that you've owned or partly owned ever leased or
13 purchased property in Silver Spring, Maryland?
14  A. Has--say thatagain. Has AMA, AMS --
15 Q. AMA,AMSoranyothercompanythatyou
16haveowned or partly owned ever entered into any
17 lease or purchased property in Silver Spring,
18 Maryland?
19 A. NotthatI--1mean, they definitely
20 never purchased any property. Now, I don't
21remember themever entering into any lease that I
22 canthink of.
160
1 Q. Have you ever been to a family planning
2 clinic located at 9801 Georgia Avenue in
3 Silver Spring, Maryland?
4 A. Idon'tknow where that address is, so I
5 can't--1can'tspeak specifically to that
6 address.
7 Q. Have you ever visited any family clinic
8 1n Silver Spring, Maryland?
9 A. Yes, I have.
10 Q. Okay. Where?
11  A.There was a family planning clinic in
12 Silver Spring, Maryland, that--1 don't remember
13 the address that I went to.
14 Q. Whydidyougoto the familyplanning
15 clinic in Silver Spring that you went to?
16 A. Because AMA was providing doctors to it.
17 Q. Okay. Pursuanttoits contract with
18 Associates in OB/GYN Care, or a different
19 agreement?
20  A.That agreement.
21 Q. Okay. Whatarethelocations ofthe
22 Maryland clinics for which AMA was providing
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physicianservices to Associates inOB/GYN Care?

A. Say --say that again. What are the --

whatwas thequestion? Whatwere the--whatare |3

Q. Your company, AMA --
A. Yes.
Q. -- as you said, entered into an agreement
with Associates in OB/GYN Care to provide
9 physicians' services, right?
10 A. Yeah.
11 Q. Doyouknow where werethe Maryland
12 clinics that those physicians staffed, or went to?
13 A.Idon'tknowtheexactaddressesoffthe

1
2
3
4 the --
5
6
7
8

14 top of my head.

15 Q. Do you knowcities?
16 A.Yes.

17 Q. Where?

18  A. The cities that you just mentioned. I
19 think there was one in, I think, Baltimore. There
20was onein--therewas onein--1I think there was
21onein Frederick. One in Silver Spring.
22 Q. Um-hum.

162

A. And one in Cheverly, I think.

Q. And what occasioned you to go physically
to those locations?

A. Well, as part of the due diligence of
recruiting doctors and hiring doctors, we would --
I'would go there to meet the doctor, interview the
doctor, that sort of stuff.

Q. Okay.

9 A. IknowIwentto the-- well, anyway,

10 that's the answer.

11 Q. SoifI'm following you, when you hired

12 doctors to staft those clinics, you went down to

13 visit the clinics to make sure that everything was

14 going smoothly and okay?

15 A. When we hired them, we would do a number
16 of things, you know, as partof the credentialing
17 process, I guess you'd say.

18 Q. Okay. Tellmewhatyou'd do, whenyou
19hiredadoctor. Thisis--and whenyousay, you,

20 you're talking about AMA, right?

21  A. AMA.

22 Q. Okay.

O NN AW -
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1 A. Well, we would -- if a doctor contacted

2 us, we would, first, you know, verify their
license, verify their -- would look themup. See
4 ifthere's a history to the doctor. We would ask
to see their credentials. We'd ask for a
curriculumyvitae. We'dask foriftheyhave Board
certification.

We would interview. I would usually
9 interview the doctor by telephone. We would do a
10 national practitioner databank query.
11 And -- and then if everything seemed
12 fine--and we would give them -- then we would
13 give them an independent contractor agreement, if
14 they wanted to -- to join AMA. And then--but
15before they would start, I would go and meet them
16 in person usually.
17 Q. Okay.
18 A. Sothat'showlwould--causemean
19 occasion to go to the facility.
20 Q. You'd meet them at the facility?
21  A. Atthefacility or near the facility or
22 something--

[ "IN B W |
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Q. Okay.

A. -- like that.

Q. So ifa doctor contacted AMA, is
expressing an interest in working with AMA, you
would be the one who would interview that person,
correct?

A. One of the people,yeah.

Q. Who were the others?

9 A. Itdepended on whatyearitwasand who
10 was--who wasthere. Itwould depend. Itchanged
11 over time.

12 Q. Okay. Tellmewhoyoucanrecall. Who
13 helpedyouwiththatprocessofhiringdoctorsto
14 work for AMA as independent contractors?

15 A. Dr.Pannadid. He wasthe medical

16 director.

17 Q. Dr.Pannawasthe medical director for

18 AMA?

19 A. Dr.Pannawasthemedicaldirectorof
20 Associates.

21 Q. Dr.Pannawasthe medical director of

22 Associates in OB/GYN Care?

O A O\ DN LN —
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1 A. Yeah.
2 Q. Okay.
3 A. I think so. That's right, he was.
4 Q. How about Dr. Kaji--
5 A. Dr. --
6 Q. -- who is he?
7 A. --Kaji had no connection to Maryland in
8 any way.
9 Q. Okay. Sowhensomeone wouldcontactyou,
10 American Medical Associates, expressing an interest
11 inworkingas a physician, am I correct that either
12 you or Dr. Panna would interview them?
13 A. MeorDr.Panna. Dr. Walker might talk
14 to them.
15 Q. Okay.
16 A. I'mtrying to remember who else would get
17 involved. Sometimes -- I mean, it depends who they
18 called and who they spoke to. Sometimes the,you
19 know, people on the staff would --
20 Q. Okay.
21  A.--talk to them.
22 MR. GREANEY: To clarify, was this more

166
of atwo spart -- two-part process where you're --
you're making a hire to staff them to these
facilities, but the medical director of the
facility would also interview them before they
began working there?

THE WITNESS: Sometimes.

MS. MALARKEY: Okay. Well, let's not
testify for him.
9 THE WITNESS: And it changed -- it
10 changed over time.
11 MR. GREANEY: Okay.
12 THE WITNESS: So she's -- sometimes,
13 because when Dr. Panna came on and became medical
14 director, he would -- he would do that.
15 MR. GREANEY:: Just wanted to clarify.
16 BY MS. MALARKEY:
17 Q. WhendidDr. Pannabecomemedical
18director for Associates inOB/GYN Care?

O3 ON DN bW —

19 A. Idon'tremember which year it was.
20 Q. Allright.

21 (Telephone interruption.)

22 A. Sorry. Sorry. I can't talk right now.

167

1 Go ahead.
2 Q. Did youknow Dr. Panna before he became
3 themedical director for Associates in OB/GYN Care?

A. I don't thinkso.

Q. Do youknow who was the medical director
for Associates in OB/GYN Care before it was
Dr. Panna?

A. I don'tremember.
9 Q. SoamIcorrect that your two main points
10 of contact with Associates in OB/GYN Care were
11 Dr. Panna and Dr. Walker?
12 A. On medicalstuff, yeah, that's true.
13 Q. How about onnonmedical stuff?
14  A. On administrative things?
15 Q. Sure.
16 A. TherewasNancy,Italked withher
17 sometimes too.
18 Q. What is Nancy's lastname?
19 A.I don'tremember.
20 Q. How about Melissa Scachnovitz,
21 S-c-a-c-h-n-0-v-i-t-z, do you know her?
22 A.ldon'tremember that--there was a

168
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1 Melissa, butl don't know the last name.

2 Q. Do you know who that Melissa was or what
3 herassociation was with Associates in OB/GYN Care?
4 A. I'm not sure. I don't want tospeak

5 exactly.

6 Q. Now, you mentioned that there was an

7 independent contractor agreement thatyou would --
8 that AMA would sign with the physician ifhe or she

9 was retained or hired?

10  A.Right.

11 Q. Okay. Who drafted thatagreement?

12 A. An attorney.

13 Q. Okay. Itwasawrittendocument, likea

14 written contract that--

15 A. Yes.
16 Q. -- would be signed?
17 A.Yes.

18 Q. And who would sign it?

19  A.The doctor.

20 Q. Okay. And would A -- you sign on behalf
21 of AMA?

22 A.Yes. Usually, yes.
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1 Q. So getting back to our original
2 discussion, you had occasion to come to Maryland to
3 visit the four clinics that were associated with
4 Associates in OB/GYN Care when you would follow up
5 tomake sure that the doctors you retained on
6 behalfof AMA werecomfortableandappropriateand
7 everything was goingsmoothly?
8 A. I'm sorry, I -- I wanted to make sure

9 thatl--1--usuallyitwasattheinitial

10 hiring --

11 Q. Uh-huh.
12 A.--time.
13 Q. Okay.

14  A. Unless there was some issue or some

15 problem or something, but I usually didn't have
16 much contact with -- if everything went fine, then
17 the doctors, you know, we had to credential them
18 and verify --

19 Q. Um-hum.

20 A.-- them and that sort of stuff.

21 Q. Soafteryoucredentialed the doctorand

22 verified the doctor and visited the doctor at one

170
ofthe locations in Maryland, would you have any

further contact with either the doctor or those
clinics in Maryland?

A. Notunless the doctor called up with some
kind of problem or something.

Q. Did AMA have Christmas parties for its --
strike that. Let me back up for asecond.

A. Oh, yes, you're right. Christmas
parties.
10 Q. Did AMA haveemployees?
11 A. It--no, notin--notany W -- W --
12 whatisit, W-2, W-4employees? Itwas just1099,
13 independentcontractors.
14 Q. Just independent contractors?
15 A. Right.
16 Q. Okay. Were the onlyindependent
17 contractors that AMA had physicians, or were there
18 nonphysician independent contractors?
19 A. Idon'tremember--1thinktheywereall
20 justphysicians.
21 Q. Okay.
22 A. Youknow, you're -- it's going -- first

L 1 U AW —
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of all, I want to qualify, when you're asking me
these questions, I'm thinking about the time when
AMA was working in this contract with Associates.
So the time before that --

Q. No, we're on the samepage.

A. -- you know —-

Q. I'm talking about that time too.

A. Yeah, but I -- okay. But I just wantto
9 make--clarify, the timebefore thatiskind ofa
10 black --1 don't -- can't even remember what the
11 heck was going on back in -- before that.
12 All right. Let's go ahead.
13 Q. In the time frame that AMA was in this
14 contract with Associates in OB/GYN Care to provide
15 physician services for the clinics in Maryland --
16 A. Yes.
17 Q. -- did AMA have any employees?
18  A. Not that Iremember.
19 Q. Okay. Didithaveanynonphysician
20 independent contractors?
21  A. Not that Iremember.
22 Q. Did AMA have Christmas parties, host

R I SN N AW -

172
1 Christmas parties?
2 A. There were Christmas parties and I would
3 attend them.
4 Q. Who would -- go ahead. I'm sorry,I
5 didn't mean to cut you--
6 A. Go ahead.
7 Q. You sounded like you weren'tfinished.
8 I'm sorry.
9 A. Well, they -- those parties were jointly
10 with-- because employees of Associates would
11 attend and the doctors -- because the doctors were
12 attending, I would attendtoo.
13 Q. But you would attend the Christmas
14 parties that were being thrown by Associates in
15 OB/GYN Care for their staff?
16 A. Well,these werepartiesfor the people
17 that worked there, let's put it that way.
18 Q. Okay.
19  A. And -- and the doctors, like Dr. Panna,
20 for example, and the other doctors would attend, so
211would often attend. Ididn't always attend, but
22 I sometimes attended.
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Q. Did you ever agree to be the resident
agentfor Associates inOB/GYN Care inMaryland?

A. I don'tremember.

Q. Um-hum. Do you know why the State of
Maryland would have you listed as the residential
agent for Associates in OB/GYN Care?

A. If they did have me listed, then I guess
itwould be I must have agreed to it.

9 Q. Okay. So wehave-- goingbackto AMA
10forasecond. Wehavetalked about -- Ithink you

11 told me earlier that when it was first formed --
12and wesaw thison Exhibit 1 A --the Hamilton

13 Street, Allentown, Pennsylvania, address was

14 provided to the State of Pennsylvania.

15 In Exhibit 3, your affidavit filed in

16 this case, you've stated that the corporate office

17 for AMA was the Fort Duquesne Boulevard address in
18 Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.

19 And earlierinyour deposition testimony,

20 you told me that you would consider the

21 Alpha Avenue, Voorhees, New Jersey, address as the
22 principal place of business for AMA.

O 1O DN K~ W —
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1 Have we -- are those three addresses the
2 main addresses for AMA for all ofits existence
3 since 20007
4 A. Well, 1 don't know what you mean by the
5 mainin--addresses. And each of those statements
6 1think were all true, what you just said.
7 I'm not sure how to answer -- respond to
8 your--firstof all, you're talking over a 17-year
9 period of time and some of these are -- addresses
10 went and changed and whatnot, so --
11 Q. What I'd like to know is, what are the
12 principal business addresses for your company, AMA,
13 from 2000 to the present. I don't want to cover
14 the three we've already discussed. But are there
15 any others, besides Pittsburgh, Allentown,
16 Voorhees?
17  A. Business addresses? Well, I mean, that
18 depends how you define, business address, I mean --
19 Q. Eitherregistered withthe state orwhere
20 they conduct business.
21  A. Well,the AMA in Maryland conducted --1
22 mean, in the sense, they conducted business, they
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1 provided physicians, I told you, to those four
2 facilities. AndIthink youshowed me something
3 that--that--1don't know what address -- 1
4 thinkAMA'saddressin MarylandwastheTollHouse
5 Road address.
6 Q. Um-hum.
7  A.Ithinkwe -- I think you need an
8 address-- we needed--Ithink the lawyer, the
9 Maryland lawyers wanted a Maryland address for AMA,
10 so there was thataddress.
11 Q. Toll House Roadbeingthe one in
12 Frederick?
13  A. Yeah,in Frederick. But,youknow,
14 anyway --
15 Q. Doyouknowanindividual named
16 Sabreena Zan,Z-a-n?
17  A. No.
18 Q. How about TonyaThomas?
19  A. No. Not offhand, not thatI remember.
20 Q. Doyouknowanyone withthe initials DB
21 whoworksatthe Silver Spring AssociatesinOB/GYN
22 Care office?

176
A.Idon't. ButIdon't know the -- you
know,Iwouldn't necessarily know them. Idon't
know what they -- no. The answer is no.
Q. Do youknowwhyaperson withthose
initials or anypersonatthe Silver Springoffice
of Associates in OB/GYN Care wouldindicate they
could fax you papers?
A. Idon't know -- I can't speak to why
they -- people would say what they would say.
10 Q. Dothestaffatthe Marylandclinics of
11 AssociatesinOB/GYN Care haveyour contact
12 information?
13  A. There are no clinics, as I understand it,
14 of Associates in OB/GYN Carein Maryland right now.
15 Q. Atthe time that there were, did the
16 staffofthose clinics knowhowto reach you, if
17 they neededyou?
18 A.Idon't thinkso, butit's -- I mean, the
19 doctorsdid. So maybe the doctors could have given
20 them -- I don't know what they did.
21 Q. Do youknow who employed or paid the
22 paychecks of the nonphysician staff who worked at
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the Maryland Associates inOB/GYN Care clinics?

A. Ithinkitwas AssociatesinOB/GYN Care,
butI -- and it may have changed over time. 1
don't know. I'm not sure.

Q. Has AMA conducted business inany
other -- [ understand that it's registered in
Pennsylvania, and that it has an office in
Voorhees, New Jersey, buthas it --

A. It had anaddress.

10 Q. Okay. Has that company had any other
11 professional relationship or way of doing business
12 ever, besides its contract with Associates in

13 OB/GYN Care?

14 MR. GREANEY: I'm goingto object to the
15 breadth.

16 A. Yeah,that's awfully broad. Idon't--1
17 don't-- could you please rephrase the question?
18 Q. Other than providing physician services,
19 pursuant to a contract with Associates inOB/GYN
20Care, whichoperated fourabortion clinicsinthe
21 State of Maryland--

22 A.Okay.

O 1N U AW N —
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Q. --did your company, AMA, conduct any

other business?

A. Well, I will -- 1 don't -- I told you I
don't rem -- more recent history, meaning the time
we started doing business with Associates.

Goingbackbefore that,I mean, wayback,

I'mean,backin,youknow, allthe way, 17 years, I
don'tremember what-- if it did anything or not.
9 Soldon'twanttocommentonit,Idon'twantto
10guess. Butbythe time thatitwas engaged in--
11in this arrangement with Associates, that was all
12 itdid.
13 Q. Okay. Doyourememberadoctornamed
14 Iris Dominy?

OIS N A Wk —

15 A.I believe I met her once.
16 Q. Where do you believe you met her?
17 A. Well,she was an independent--she was

18 independently contracted with - by AMA. So she
19was one of AMA's independent contractors. AndI
20believe, ifl remember correctly, thatwhenwe
21 first contracted with her, that I met her in one of
22 Associates' facilities,  want tosay Baltimore,

179
1 butldon'trememberforsureifitwas Baltimore.

2 Maybe it was Frederick. I'm notsure.
3 Your question was where. I'mnot sure
4 exactly where.
Q. Do you know if you spoke to the -- on the
phoneto Dr. Dominybefore youmetherinMaryland?
A. Idon'thave anindependentrecollection
8 of that, butit's possible that I -- probably did.
9 Q. Okay.
10 A. I'mean,Ican'timagine I would have met
11 with her without talking to her on the phone,so I
12 must have had some phone conversations with her.
13 Q. Doyouknow forhowlong Dr. Dominy was
14 an independent contractor with AMA?
15 A.Idon'tremember,asIsithereoffhand,
16 how many years it was.
17 Q. Okay. Do you recall a timethat
18 Dr. Dominy ever told you about a patient named
19 Christy O'Connell specifically?
20 A.Idon'tremember ever speaking to
21 Dr. Dominy about this patient.
22 Q. Other than your one interaction with

~N SN D
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1 Dr. Dominy when you first met her in Maryland, do
2 youever recall any in-person interactions with
3 Dr. Dominy ever?
4 A. I may have had them, I justdon't--1
5 can'tindependently recall them, as I'sit here.
6 Q. Um-hum.
7 A. Ido know I talked sometimes to her on
8 thephone,butmoreoften,Italkedtoher husband.
9 Q. Why did you talk to herhusband?
10 A. Forsomereason,hewas--alwaysspoke
11for her. So anyissues --1don'tknow exactly
12 what their re -- he seemed to be representing her
13insome way in the negotiations withusinsome
14 capacity, I don't --
15 Q. Whatdidyoutalkto Dr. Dominy's husband
16 about?
17  A.The independent contractor agreement and
18the terms and all thatsort of stuff. Heseemed to
19 be more involved in money and financial dealings
20 with Dr. Dominy than she was. She kind of --1
21don'tknow. I did talk withher,though,I mean--
22 yes, that's the answer.
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Q. So when you -- the conversations you had
with her husband, it sounds like, were mainly when
she was negotiating terms of this independent
contractor agreement with you?

A. He -- he called us relatively frequently,
Dr.Dom--Imean, compared to--compared to her.

Q. Once Dr. Dominy had agreed and entered
into the independent contractor agreement with --

A. Right.
10 Q. --AMA,didyouhear from her husband
11 again?
12 A. Yeah,Ithinkwedid,because he would --
131don'tknow whatitwas. He wasalways calling.
14 Q. What was he calling about?
15 A.Idon't remember offhand. Sometimes it
16 was -- it might have been her paycheck or he wanted
17 more money or -- 1 --1don't remember offhand.
18 But it seemed like, as far as Dr. Dominy, at least
19 in terms of my interaction, for some reason, he was
20 like there -- Dr. -- her husband was like this
21 intermediary, so wedidn'tspeak to her very much.
22 Q. Okay. Soyourecall Dr. Dominy's husband

O SN N B W~
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calling, it sounds like more than once, after she

became an independent contractor of AMA?

A. That's my memory, that he called -- she
[sic] called more than once after she became a
contractor.

Q. And other than issues involvingher
paycheck, do you recall the substance of any
conversation you had with Dr. Dominy's husband?
9  A.Ican'tsaylhaveanindependent
10 recollection of it.

0 3 ON U AW —

11 Q. Okay.
12 A.No.
13 Q. Do you recall having an independent

14 recollection of speaking to Dr. Dominy, other than
15 the initial meeting that you've already told me
16 about?

17  A.I believe I did speak to her --

18 Q. Okay. Tell me what --

19 A.On thephone.

20 Q. Okay. What --

21 A. Idon't--Idon'thave anindependent

22recollectionof meet--Imayhavemether--1

183
knowImetherinpersonatleastonce. Imayhave

met her a second time. I don't think she went to
the holiday parties, or at least not the years I
went. I don'tremember seeing her at the holiday
party.

Q. Who planned the holiday party?

A. 1 think Dr. Walker.

Q. What do you recall about -- well, do you
have any recollection of any conversations you had
10 with Dr. Dominy at any time?

11  A.Ican't,asIsithere,it'sbeenyears.

121 can'tremember the substance -- the specific
13substance of it. IfI was talking to her,I--I'm
14 sorry, I just--1 can'tremember --recall

15 offthand.

16 Q. Okay. Whendidyou firstbecome aware
17 that a patient named Christy O'Connell had visited
18 one ofthe Maryland abortion clinics that AMA

19 staffed?

20 A.I don't remember that, to be honest.

21 Q. Doyouthinkyouknew abouttheexistence
22 of apatient named Christy O'Connell before, as you
184
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1 say inyour affidavit that we've marked as an

2 exhibit, you were contacted by areporter from The

3 Baltimore Sun?

4 A. Halmighthave called me abouta patient.
5 Ithink there was -- maybe it was you. I think

6 there was an attorney that was requesting a record
7 or something. It mighthave beenyou actually,

8 come to think of it, I don't know. I don't

9 remember exactly. But there was no lawsuit that I
10 knewof.

11 Q. Who --sorry.

12 A. Ican't--Idon'twantto guess and

13 speculate, so I'm not sure.

14 Q. Who is Hal?
15 A.Dr. Dominy's husband.
16 Q. Didyouknow Dr. Dominyorherhusband,

17 Hal, before she contacted you expressing interest
18 in working for you?

19 A.No.
20 Q. Is--is--isHal's lastname Dominy as
21 well?

22 A.I don't thinkso.
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Q. Okay.
A. He's gota -- I don't remember. I think
it's got -- he's got a different name. Actually, I
assumed thathe --1don't-- assumed that he's her
husband. I think he identified himself as her

but he was the one -- he was the one that would
call us more than her.

Q. Doyouknow Hal'slastname?
10  A.Ican'trememberitoffhand.
11 Q. Is Hal aphysician?
12 A.I think so, but I don't -- I don't -- I
13 don't know his -- he was always calling on behalf
14 of Dr.Dominy, wheneverhe called us. Imean, it
15was--wehad --let me -- let me qualify this. We
16 had very little contact with Dr. Dominy.
17 Everything seemed to be okay with Dr. Dominy.
18 Q. Sodoyouthink that youreceiveda call
19 from Dr. Dominy's husband, Hal, sayingthata
20 lawyer had requested medical records on a patient
21 and wanting to know what to do about it?
22 A.ldon't remember.I and -- and I -- and
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I--Thesitate to commentbecause I don'twantto
say -- I don't want to say something that's
incorrect.

But Hal was calling us -- I have a vague
memory of Hal calling us about a patientor a
request for records and it may have been
Christy O'Connell, itmaynothavebeen. I'mnot
sure.

Q. Okay.
10 A. Buttoanswer your first question, I was
11notawareof--thefirsttimethatIbecameaware
12 of the lawsuit, as I said, was when I got this.
13 Q. Right. Well, my question wasn't actually
14 when you became aware of a lawsuit, but when you
15 became aware that a patient named Christy O'Connell
16 had been to one of the clinics that your physicians
17 staff, and that there was an issue with her care.
18 Did you become aware of that before you were aware
19 that there was a lawsuit actually filed?

O I N A WK -
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20 A.I don'tremember.
21  Q.Doyou--
22  A. I may--there was some --go ahead. I

husband and I don't remember if she confirmed that,

187
1 justdon'tremember. The shortansweris, [ don't
2 remember.
3 Q. Did -- it sounds like you have a general
4 recollection of receivinga call from Dr. Dominy's
5 husband thatarequest for medical records had been
6 made and he wanted -- or they wanted your advice.
7 A. About a patient. About a patient or
8 something. Butldon't remember what patient it
9 was, S0 --
10 Q. Allright. Do youremember any of the
11 details about the request for records specifically?
12 A.Idon't remember what it was. Dr. --
13 Hal -- I think it was something about -- you know
14 whatelse, Hal called us because Dr. Dominy --
15there wasanother--actually, therewasa
16 different patient that Dr. --it could be a
17 different patient. There was a patient that
18 Dr. Dominy had who there was a complication, and I
19 don't think this was Christy O'Connell, and she
20 ended up going to the hospital and I --she--she,
21 the patient may have passed away.
22 And I don't--1don't-- I had this --

188
1 andtheboard--the state was interested in the
2 caseandtherewas--and Halwas calling us about
3 that. I think he wanted us to -- I think he wanted
4 tous pay legal fee --1 don't want to say the
5 wrong thing and I'm not sure about this. ButI
6 knowthathewas contacting us aboutsomething
7 abouta patient, and I don't know if it was
8 Christy O'Connell or this other case, so I don't
9 want to --

10 Q. Okay.

11  A.--guess orspeculate.

12 MS. MALARKEY: Let's mark this -- well,
13 let's take a little while to mark a couple things

14 actually.

15 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Offtherecord?

16 MS. MALARKEY: Yeah.

17 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're going offthe
18 record, the time is 12:57p.m.

19 (Brigham Exhibits 4 and 5 were marked for

20 identification and are attached to the transcript.)

21 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We are back on the
22 record, the time is 1:05p.m.
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1 BY MS. MALARKEY:
2 Q. Okay. So, Doctor, I've handed you what
3 we'vemarked as Exhibit4 during the break. It's
4 labeled, Physician Independent Contractor
5 Agreement. Do you have a copy ofthat?

6 A. 1 see this.
7 Q. Okay.
8 A. This is -- this document here.

9 Q. Is this the independent contractor

10 agreement that you were referring to earlier that
11 AMA would enter into with its physician

12 contractors?

13  A.I don't know ifthis is the precise

14 agreement, but this is -- something like this.
15 Q. Allright. Do you see Dr. Dominy's

16 signature on whatis -- says 9 atthetop? The

17 pages are numbered.

18 A.Itsays page 10 and 9, yes.

19 Q. Right. Inthetop right-hand corner, it

20 says P.10, but then--

21  A.Isee her signature, yes.

22 Q. Okay. And, obviously, this version was

190
provided by Dr. Dominy. It does not have your
signature on it. But do you see that there's a
location for you to sign?

A. I see that.

Q. Is this of the nature of the type of
independent contractor agreements that you would
sign for AMA, when it was entering into a contract
with a physician?

9 A. Well,Imean,Ican'tcommenton all the
10 details in this agreement, but I did enter into
11independent contractor agreements with-- I mean, I
12 signed, on -- as an officer of American Medical
13 Associates, P.C. on behalf of the professional

14 corporation with-- onindependent contractor
15 agreements sometimes, yes.

16 Q. Okay. And my question is, specifically,

17 independent contractor agreements like this one. |
18 mean, doyouhaveanyreasontodisputethatthis
19 is not, in fact, the independent contractor
20agreementthat American Medical Associatesentered
21 into with Dr. Dominy?

22 A.Yes--

O3 O DN AW~
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1 Q. Why?
2 A. --1do have a reason. Well, because
3 there were multiple versions. That was partof the
4 problem with Halin the initial beginning. There
5 werelike --1--yeah, I remember -- you're
6 bringing back the memory now that Hal would --
7 there waslike --1don't know. It was one of the
8 most difficult negotiations because they kept
9 revising and revising and revising. And this one
10you've handed me, I didn'tsign, she signed. I
11 don't know. SoI--no, I can't--Ican't--1
12 can't --
13 Q. Where would--
14  A. What'stheword? I can'tcertify that
15 this is the one that was in effect.
16 Q. Okay. Where would the one thatwasin
17 effect be kept?
18  A. Well, we would have had one in our files.
19 Q. We, who?
20 A. American Medical Associates, P.C. And I
21imagine she would have had one, Dr. Dominy would
22 have had one that was si -- executed by us too.

192

Q. Okay. Do you believe that American
Medical Associates maintainsindependent contractor
agreements now? Are they keptsomewhere?

A. I don't think we have any independent
contractor agreements now.

Q. Okay.

A. I mean, there's no -- it's defunct.
Thereareno --it doesn'thave any agreements with
any physicians now.

10 Q. I understand that it doesn't have any

11 agreementsthatareineffectnow. WhatIwantto
12 know isabout American Medical Associates'

13 recordkeeping.

14  A. Oh, okay.

15 Q. Okay. Does American Medical Associates
16 maintain records ofits prior business affairs?

17  A. We attempt to.

18 Q. Okay. Do you believe that thoserecords
19 contain independent contractor agreements that AMA
20 entered into with physicians?

21  A.I think so.

22 Q. Okay. If you went and looked in those
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archives or files and found the independent
contractor agreement for Dr. Dominy, which I will
ask you to do, can you please give it to your
lawyers?

A. IfI can find it, sure.

Q. Okay. Now, I understand yourtestimony
that, because of the discussions with Dr. Dominy's
husband, there might have been different --

A. Multiple revisions.

10 Q. -- versions --

11  A.Yeah.

12 Q. -- of this independent contractor

13 agreement. But, generally speaking, was the

14 independent contractor agreement that you would ask
15 doctors to sign like this one that we have in front

16 of us?

17  A. Itwas --1 can say it was, generally

18 speaking, similar. This one has these verylate
19 pregnancies, I'm surprised at that, but, you know,
201 can't-- it could have been - it was
21generally--thisiswhata--thisisan11-page

22 document. Yeah,itwasn'ta--itwas nota
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1 hundredpage thing. It was something like this.
2 Q. Does this document look totally
3 unfamiliar to you?
4 A. No.
5 Q. Okay. Now, it has, at the top of page --
6 the first page, which actually has P.02 in the top
7 right corner --
8 A. Um-hum.
9 Q. -- that American Medical Associates'
10 mailingaddress is the Alpha Avenue, Voorhees, New
11 Jersey, address, correct?
12 A.That's what it has,right.
13 Q. And that was the address that you gave me
14 earlier which was the main business address for AMA
15 at the time, true?
16 A. Atthispointin time, this was the
17 mailing address for Vor -- yes.
18 Q. Okay. Anddo you--ifyoucould flip
19 ahead to page -- it's got a 4 at the top in the
20 center and a P.O5 in the top right.
21 A.PageS5.
22 Q. Paragraph 14.3, Covenant Notto Compete.

195
Do you see that?

1
2 A. Right. I see that.
3 Q. Okay. It lists in that paragraph the
4 current offices of professional corporation in --
5 and then it gives four Maryland addresses;
6 Cheverly, Frederick, Silver Spring and Baltimore.
7 Do you see that?
8 A. See. I see -- yeah, I see the four
9 addresses.
10 Q. Andtheprofessional corporation that
11 this contract is referring to is American Medical
12 Associates, true?
13 A.I thinkso.
14 Q. Okay. American Medical Associates
15 conducted business through its independent
16 contractors atthose addresses in Maryland, right?
17 A. American Medical -- say that again.
18 Q. American Medical Associatesconducted
19business inMaryland throughits independent
20 contractors atthose four addresses in
21 Paragraph 14.3, right?
22 A. American Medical Associates, my
196

understanding is, provided physicians to the
facilities located at these four addresses.

Q. Okay. Can we agree that in
Paragraph 14.3, it states that the current offices
ofthe professional corporation, which is defined
as AMA --

A. Wait. I'mtrying to find whereyouare.
Oh.

Q. I'm in the middle of the --
10  A. Yeah, yeah, I see. Okay.
11 Q. Are in Cheverly, Frederick,Baltimore
12 and Silver Spring.
13 A. That's what this document says.
14 Q. Okay. Now,ifyoulook at Exhibit5,
15 which is --
16  A. Okay. This is Exhibit 4 here?
17 MR. GREANEY: Yeah.
18 Q. So Exhibit 5 is the chart for
19 Christy O'Connell that was provided to us
20 earlier --
21 A.Bywho?
22 Q. -- in thislitigation.
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A. Did we provide this? Where did you get
this? Because I --
Q. Okay. Do you have Exhibit 5 in front of
you, Doctor?
A.1do.
Q. Okay. Does this look familiar to you?
A. I've never seen this before thatI can
remember.
Q. Okay.
10  A. That'swhylwas asking whereyougot
11 this, but--
12 Q. Okay.
13 A.--okay.
14 Q. Do yousee where at the top -- there's
15 numbers in the bottom right-hand corner? Do you
16 see those, startingwith --
17 A.Yes. Yes. Yes. Yes.
18 Q. --1 and going to page 21?
19 A.Right.
20 Q. Okay.
21 A. Right.
22 Q. Can we agree that the heading of all of
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the documents in Exhibit 5 which have a heading,
state, American Medical Associates at the top?

A. Thatis what is printed at the top of
this document.

Q. Are these the forms that were used for
patient medical recordkeeping at the Maryland
clinics?

A. I don'tknow.

9 Q. Haveyoueverseen -- [understand you've
10 never seen Ms. O'Connell's forms before, but have
11 you seen forms like this before, uncompleted forms
12 that look like this with American Medical

13 Associates at the top?

14  A. Not that Iremember.

15 Q. Did American Medical Associates create

16 patientrecord forms likepage 1 of Exhibit5?

17  A.Not that Iremember.

18 Q. Okay. Haveyoueverseenapatient
19record thatlooks likepage 1 of Exhibit5? I
20don'tmeanwithMs. Connell'snameon it, butjust
21 generally speaking, haveyou, as thepresidentand
22 owner of American Medical Associates, everseena
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1 formlike this with your company's name at the top?
2 A. Not that I remember.
3 Q. Didyouever ask anyone to create medical
4 records onbehalf of AMA?
5 A. Thave thought that Dr. Panna, that is,
6 partofhisbeing medical director, was supposed to
7 create forms on behalf of -- for Associates. 1
8 don'tknowwhathedid. Maybehe put AMAonthere.
9 Q. So do you have any explanation for why
10 AMAs atthe top of all of these medical records?
11 A.My--1don't. Ican'tanswerthat. I
12 don't know. I don'tknow.
13 Q. Turn to page 4, please.
14 A.Paged.
15 Q. Doyousee atthe bottomofpage4, there
16 is a website, www.americanwomensservices.com?
17  A.Iseethat.
18 Q. Haveyoueverheardof American Women's
19 Services?
20  A. Yes.
21 Q. Wherehaveyouheardof American Women's
22 Services?

200
A. Thatisatradename.
Q. Atradename ofwhat?
A. Well, of different entities indifferent
states.
Q. Okay. Tell me what entities and inwhat
states.
A. Now, or when?
Q. Atany time.
9 A. Oh,my goodness. Well, actually again,
10 I'm going to focus on Maryland, since I've been
11 advised to talk aboutMaryland.
12 Q. Sir,my questionis, American Women's
13 Services, yousaidit's your understanding that's a
14 tradename. My question is, whatis American
15 Women's Services atrade name for? Andifit's
16 multiple different entities, as you, I believe
17 indicated, then I'd like to know those entities.
18  A. Okay. I'll testify about the Maryland
19 entities. I believe that American Women's Services
20 was the trade name that was used by -- my
21 understanding, could be wrong, is that American
22 Women's Services was the trade name in Maryland of

O QNN AW -
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1 Associates in OB/GYN Care.
2 Q. Areyou familiar with any other entity
3 that has used American Women's Services as its
4 trade name?
5 A. InMaryland?
6 Q. Anywhere,sir.
7 A. Tbelieve that trade name has been used
8 by other entities in other states.
9 Q. Such us what?
10 A.Well, again,I've been--1've been asked
11 to confine my testimony to Maryland. SoI'mgoing
12 totest--I'mgoing to focus on Maryland. Idon't
13 remember that American Medical Associatesever used
14 that as a tradename.
15 Q. Okay.
16 A. Buthereitis on this form. I don't
17 know how this transpired, but that's what Isee.
18 Q. Okay. It's my understanding thatyour
19 counsel has advised younot to give any testimony
20 aboutaproceeding that's occurring in New Jersey,
21 not anything that has anything to do with
22 New Jersey, sir.

202

A. The--the--hesays,I'm advising you
not to answer any questions dealing with any matter
outside of the State of Maryland.

Q. Okay. Sothisisn'tamatter. Thisis
justafact. Yourunderstandingisthat American
Women's Services isa trade name used by Associates
in OB/GYN Care in Maryland and by other entities
outside the State of Maryland. I'm simply asking
you, what are those otherentities?
10  A.I'm not -- I'm not sure which entities
11 are using the trade name, when and where and all of
12 that. And, again, I'm focusing on Maryland, as I
13 said, I remember -- my understanding -- you're
14 asking my understanding -- my understanding was
15 thatin Maryland, American -- Associatesin OB/GYN
16 Care, LLC was utilizing the trade name of American
17 Women's Services.
18 Q. Are you aware of any other entities
19 anywhere, outside of Maryland, who, atany time,
20 used American Women's Services as its trade name?
21 A. Imightbe,butI'vebeenadvised not to
22 answer questions outside the State of Maryland.
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Q. Okay. You need to say thatyou're
refusing to answer the question then, so we can
haveajudgecomeback and decide whetheryouneed
to answer the question.

A. Okay.

Q. So I'm going to ask it again.

A. All right. On the advice of counsel, I'm
going to refuse to answer, outside of the State of
Maryland.

10 Q. Okay. Soisityourtestimony thatyou

1 1 areawareofotherentities outside the State of

12 Maryland, you're just refusing to provide the names

13 today?

14 A. Iamaware, over the pastmanyyears, of
15 other entities outside of Maryland, unconnected to
16this case, thatmay have used the trade name of
17 American Women's Services --

LI B W
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18 Q. And you're not--

19 A.--thatis true.

20 Q. And you're not providing those?

21 A. ButI've--I've been advised not to

22 discuss matters outside the State of Maryland, so
204

I'm going to decline not to answer that --

respectfully decline to answer that question.

Q. Did American Medical Associates everuse
the trade name, American Women's Services?

A. I didn't think so, but here's this
documentthathave gotthe bothnames onit,sois
that--1 don't know what that means, but --

Q. Ifyou turn to page 10 of Exhibit 5 --

9 I'msorry,lapologize. Well,yeah,page 10. You
10 see it's a form that says: RH Negative Information
11 with American Medical Associates at thetop?
12 A.Yes.

13 Q. Okay. Have you ever seen a formlike
14 thisbefore? WhenIsay, aformlikethis, Imean,
15 not necessarily one signed by Christy O'Connell,
16butageneric formwithyourbusiness'titleatthe
17 top that provides information on RH negative to
18 patients?

19 A. Notthatl--1don'tever remember a
20 formlike this with American Medical Associates in
21 the top that -- not that I remember.

22 Q. Have you ever seen a form like this

RN N AW -
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1 before?
2 A.RH negative forms?
3 Q. No. I mean, one with -- that has your
4 company's name at thetop?
5 A. Thathas American Medical Associates at
6 the top?
7 Q. Yes.
8 A. Not that Iremember.
9 Q. Do you know who wrote this?
10 A.I don't know for a fact.
11 Q. Do you have any idea?
12 A. Anyidea?
13 Q. Your company's name is at thetop.
14  A. Right. Right. Right.
15 Q. You'vebeenthesoleownerofthat

16 company since 2000.
17  A.Right.
18 Q. Doyouhaveanyideawho, onbehalfof

19 your company, would be authoring patient
20 information like this in this form?
21 A. I'wouldsuspect--I'mnottestifying for
22afact,butyou'reaskingme,dolhaveanyidea,
206
so if I had to guess, I would think that it might
havebeen Dr. Panna or Dr. Walker,butI'mnot--1
don't know that, so I don't want to say that for a
fact.
Q. How about page 12, have you ever seen
this form or a form like itbefore?
A.1don't remember seeing this with
American Medical Associates onit,no,Idon't--
Q. Okay.
10  A.-- remember that. I don't havean
11 independent recollection of that, let me put it
12 that way.
13 Q. Do youknow who authored this document,
14 which looks like it's a letter that gets sent to
15 the patient to follow up on her appointment?

O NN AW -

o

16 A.Ido not know --
17 Q. Okay.
18 A. --who authored this. It wasn't me. 1

19 know that.

20 Q. Howaboutpage 14, anauthorization form
21 forrelease ofhealth information, have you ever
22 seen a form like that before? I don't mean just

207
1 generally a health information release form, but
2 one that has your business' title at the top.
3 A.1 don't remember seeing this before.
4 Q. How about page 15, do you see this is a
5 form for the patient to sign out -- I'm sorry, to
6 sign, authorizing that their insurance pay their
7 billto American Medical Associates, P.C. for
8 services furnished by thephysician?
9  A. Again,Idon'trememberseeing this off
10 the top of my head.
11 Q. Does it look familiar to you?

12 A. Doesitlook familiar? Idon'tremember
13 seeing this--

14  Q.Did--

15 A.--perse.

16 Q. Did you draftit?

17 A. Me?

18 Q. Yes.

19 A.No. No.

20 Q. Did you ask anybody to draftit?

21 A.lasked Dr.--well, in his agreement,
22 Dr.Pannais themedicaldirectorfor Associates, I

208
1 think, was charged with making up forms.
2 Q. Um-hum. Didyou ask Dr. Panna to make up
3 forms, as the medical director for Associates?
4 A.1 don't personally remember, personally
5 saying make up the forms. ButI think it was--1
6 think it was in his independent contractor
7 agreement as medical director for American Medical
8 Services --

9 Q. Um-hum.
10 A.--1I think --
11 MR. GREANEY: Medical director for who?

12 A. I'msorry. Excuse me. Medical director
13 of Associates in OB/GYN Care as -- in his

14 independent contractor for American Medical

15 Associates as medical director of Associatesin

16 OB/GYN Care, I think he was responsible for setting
17 policies --

18 Q. Um-hum.

19 A.-- and forms and stuff like that.

20 Q. Soyouhired Dr. Pannato be the medical

21 director of Associates in OB/GYN Care, correct?

22  A.Well, American Medical Associates, P.C.
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209
contracted with Dr. Panna to provide medical
directorship services, I guess you will, for
Associates in --

Q. Okay.

A. -- OB/GYN Care, if you want to be formal
about it.

Q. So Dr. Panna was not an employee of
Associates inOB/GYN Care, he was an independent
contractor with American Medical Associates?

10  A. Dr.Panna was an independent contractor
11 of American Medical Associates, not -- was he an
12employee of Associates? He--he--1don'tthink
13 he was -- well, I'm not sure the legal answer to

14 that question. But he was anindependent

15 contractor with American Medical Associates, P.C.,
16 yes, and his -- one of his -- unlike Dr. Dominy,

17 who was not the medical director, Dr. Panna was the
18 medical director.

19 Q. Um-hum. Whatdiditmean to be the

20 medical director?

21  A. Well,my understanding is that his

22 responsibilities were to establish policies. He

O I SN N AW N -
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210
and Dr. Walker -- and exactly what their
interaction was, I -- I'm not sure, would establish
the medical policies, procedures, forms, training,
you know, just quality of care issues to ensure
good quality of care in Associates' facilities.

Q. Did you ever see Dr. Walker at any of the
Maryland clinics?

A. Yes.

Q. When?
10 A. Whatyear? Idon'trememberwhatyearit
11 was.
12 Q. Whichclinics?
13 A. IbelieveIsaw her at the Silver Spring
14facility? I don'trememberwhichoneitwas. I
15don'twantto--Idon'twanttospeak andsay the
16 wrong thing. I'm not sure.
17 Q. Did Dr. Walker continue to be affiliated
18 with Associates in OB/GYN Care up until the time
19 thatitbecame defunct, as you understand it?
20 A. To the best of my memory, she did.
21 Q. Doyouknow what Dr. Walker's doing now?
22 A.I think she passed away.

O 1 NN AW -

=

15

211
Q. When?
A.I don't remember what year.
Q. Did you go to herfuneral?
A. 1 did.
Q. Where was it?
A. Where?
Q. Um-hum.
A. It was inMaryland.
Q. Do you know where inMaryland?
A. 1 couldn't tell you offhand.
Q. How old was Dr. Walker?
A. Young.
Q. Do you know what she passed away from?
A. I don't have firsthand knowledge.
Q. Okay. So this is a woman you had a

16 business relationship with for several years, at
17least,and attended her funeral,and youdon't

18 remember her firstname?

19 A. Shehadanickname,whichwas, I think,

20 Kimmy.

21 Q. Okay.

22  A. Butwhather official legal nameis, I
212

1 don'tknow.Idon'twantto--I'munderoath,I

2 don'twant--Idon'twant--1wanttobecareful

3 and not say the wrong thing.

4 Q. Do youknow where she lived, when she was

5 living?

6 A.I've never been to her house. I don't

7 know.

8 Q. Did she live inMaryland?

9 A. 1 think so, yes.

10 Q. Do you know what city?

11  A.No.

12 Q. Doyouknowherhusband, ifshe was

13 married?

14 A.No.

15 Q. Do you know where she trained?

16 A. No--1takethatback. I know she did

17in Philly,I thinkshedidat Drexelmaybe. I'm

18 notsure.

19 Q. Allright. If you look at the next page

200t Exhibit5,page 16,isthisdocument, whichis
21 entitled, American Medical Associates Medical
22 Abortion Contents --
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213

A. I'mnotsure I'mlooking at the same form
that you are.

Q. Yep. Page 16 at the top.

A. Oh, 16. I thought you said page5.

Q. Oh, I'm sorry. Page 16. I'm sorry if
6 misspokeit. Itsays, American Medical Associates
7 Medical Abortion Consent. Have youseen -- this s
8 Christy O'Connell's, but have you seen --
9  A.Thisis very hard to read. It's very--

N AW N -

10 Q. Well, I can read it pretty well.
11  A. Okay. All right. Okay. Good.
12 Q. I'wouldjustliketo knowifthisisa

13 formthatyouhaveseenbefore. Andit'sa

14 three-page form that has the patient initial in the
15bottomright-hand cornerofpages 1 and2 and
16 signed on page 3.

17 A. This particular form with American
18 Medical Associates on it, this page, I don't
19 remember--

20 Q. Um-hum.
21 A.--seeing this.
22 Q. Did you ask anyone to author a medical

214
1 consent for abortion for AMA?

2 A. No. I asked --or AMA, I believe, asked
3 Dr. Panna to author a consent for --

4 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: I can't hear you.
5 A. —-Associates, butl don't know, I guess

6 they put AMA on it.

7 MR.GREANEY: Doctor,canyoumoveyour
8 microphone up closer to your mouth.

9 THE WITNESS: Oh, sorry.

10 Q. So you, sitting here today, you don't

11 know if Dr. Panna actually did draft any medical

12 consents or medicalrecord forms onbehalfof

13 Associates in OB/GYN Care inhis capacity as the

14 medical director?

15 A.I'msorry,wouldyousay--repeatthat

16 question?

17 Q. I'veasked you about a number of these

18 forms and whether you recognize them and have seen
19 them before. Ithink your testimony for all of it

20 has been, you don't recognize it, you've not seen

21 thesebefore and you didn'tdraft them, true?

22  A. This forms with the American Medical

215

1 Associates, I didn't draft them.
2 Q. Okay. Did --

A. Go ahead.

Q. Did you draft any of the forms or papers
or consents that are located in Exhibit 5?7

A. No.
7 Q. Have you seen any of these forms before?
8 And whenIsay, these forms, I don't necessarily
9 mean Christy O'Connell's, but any of the forms that
10 have American Medical Associates' name at the top.

SN N AW

11 A.Not that Iremember.

12 Q. Okay.

13 A.I mean -- not that I remember.

14 Q. IfI'mfollowing your testimony, the only

15 way that you can conceive that these forms came
161into existenceis if Dr. Panna had drafted them?
17 A. You asked me -- I said, I didn't know

18 offhand and you asked me --
19 Q. Right.
20 A.--isthere any way thatI could think

21of. So,youknow,ratherthanjustsay,Idon't
22knowandleavingitatthat,I was tryingto be

216
cooperative,and mybest thought would be that
Dr. Panna did this. ButI don't--1don't know
that. So I don't want to -- I want to be clear.
The short answer is, I don't know.

Q. Okay. Other than Dr. Pannadrafting

these, do you have any other idea -- and |
understand you don't know for a fact -- but is
thereany other way thatthese documents could have
come into an -- come into existence?
10  A. You're asking me to speculate?
11 Q. Sir, you are the president and owner of
12 American Medical Associates. Almostevery page on
13 this -- on this exhibit, which is a 21-page
14 exhibit, almost every page of ithas your company's
15 heading at the top. 1'm just wondering, as the
16 owner of that company, whether you have any idea
17 who drafted these documents or how they got
18 drafted?
19 A. Idon'tknow for a fact how -- who
20 drafted these documents or--and howtheygot
21drafted, and these are now five years old. So I
22don'twantto--Idon'tknowis theshortanswer.

RN N AW -
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1 Q. In2012, was RU-486 approved for abortion
2 inthe United States?
3 A. I believe, from my memory, butIam--1
4 think it was. I think -- I don't -- I think it --
5 Idon't--1--yes,Ithink the answeris -- I
6 can'tremember exactly which year it was approved,
7 but I think by 2012, it was.
8 Q. Okay. Was it available inthe
9 United States for abortion in2012?
10  A. I think so. There was a -- it went
11 through a convoluted history of approval and it
12 was -- became very political.
13 Q. Okay.
14  A. Butlthinktheanswertoyour question
15 is that, by 2012, it was approved.
16 MS. MALARKEY: Can we go off the record
17 for a second, talk about some logistics.
18 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're goingoffthe
19 record, the time is 1:36 p.m.
20 (Recess taken.)
21 THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Weare back onthe
22 record, the time is 1:41 p.m.

218
This concludes the deposition for today.
We're going off the record, the time is 1:41 p.m.
Thank you.
(Offtherecord at 1:41 p.m.)
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